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We are revitalizing the Circuit City shopping experience. Prime real estate for

relocations and new stores offers high visibility and great convenience. Inside, you

will find better merchandise layouts, easier product access, informed sales help

and outstanding values on a broad merchandise selection. Circuit City customers

also enjoy an award-winning Web site, circuitcity.com.





FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

OPERATING RESULTS

Net sales and operating revenues ........................................................... $9,745,445 $9,953,530 $9,518,231
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes ........... $ (1,240) $ (5,490) $ 106,644
Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations..................................... $ (787) $ (5,309) $ 67,556

PER SHARE DATA

Net (loss) earnings per share from continuing operations:
Basic................................................................................................. $ — $ (0.03) $ 0.33
Diluted............................................................................................. $ — $ (0.03) $ 0.33

Cash dividends paid .............................................................................. $ 0.07 $ 0.07 $ 0.07

AT YEAR-END

Total assets ............................................................................................ $3,633,000 $3,841,264 $4,565,092
Cash and cash equivalents ..................................................................... $ 783,471 $ 884,670 $1,248,246
Working capital ..................................................................................... $1,742,358 $1,812,885 $2,033,419
Total debt.............................................................................................. $ 23,806 $ 12,664 $ 37,926
Total stockholders’ equity ...................................................................... $2,223,961 $2,373,868 $2,760,502
Common shares outstanding................................................................. 203,899,395 209,954,840 208,822,551
Number of Superstores.......................................................................... 599 611 604
Retail square feet ................................................................................... 20,133,411 20,271,427 20,046,725
Number of Associates ............................................................................ 43,211 38,849 45,327

Results from the bankcard finance operation, the CarMax auto superstore business and Digital Video Express are presented as results from discontinued operations in this annual
report. All periods reflect the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. Additional discussion of factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from management’s projections, forecasts, estimates and expectations can be found in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition” contained in this annual report and in the company’s Securities
and Exchange Commission filings.
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MANAGEMENT LETTER

For the past several years, Circuit City has operated under challenging conditions. Our
company entered the period at a mature stage of geographic expansion with stores in
virtually all the nation’s largest markets. The layout of our oldest stores and our operat-
ing concept were no longer appropriately aligned with consumer preferences or with
the products expected to drive growth in our retail segment. For all consumer electron-
ics retailers, the limited product introductions of the late 1990s have been followed in
the 2000s by exciting digital products that mature rapidly. The result has been lower
retail prices and a significant increase in the number and scale of competitors.

We have had a lot going against us, but also a lot going for us. First, I believe that
we have an outstanding group of Associates who care about customer service and are
driven to be retail leaders. Second, we have a strong reputation with a core base of cus-
tomers. And finally, our strong balance sheet has positioned us to withstand the chal-
lenges and make the changes that will revitalize our company. We have had to rethink
how we run our business, and we have done just that. We have seized the opportunity
to “Build a New Circuit City” for consumers and, ultimately, our shareholders.
Although our results for fiscal 2004 prove that we have a long way to go, we have
made progress in key areas. In fiscal 2005, we will continue to push forward, with a
focus on building shareholder value.

FISCAL 2004 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Let me begin with what we achieved in fiscal 2004.
● Superstore openings. We relocated 18 stores, bringing to 38 the number of reloca-

tions over the past four years. We also built eight new stores, giving us a total of
50 incremental stores built over the past four years. Our new stores are easier to
shop, with powerful and informative product displays, logical product adjacencies,
greater product availability and shopping carts on the sales floor, as well as banks
of cash registers for fast checkout. They are in vibrant shopping areas with broad
consumer bases and high levels of consumer electronics expenditures.

● Sale of the finance operations. We completed the sale of our bankcard finance
operation to FleetBoston Financial and announced the planned sale of our private-
label finance operation to Bank One Corporation. We expect that the two sales
together will generate net cash proceeds totaling more than $600 million, simplify
the investment analysis for our shareholders and remove the earnings volatility of
these operations. We expect the Bank One relationship will generate an ongoing
earnings contribution. Under the terms of a multi-year agreement, Bank One will
offer private-label and co-branded credit cards to both new and existing customers.
In addition to special financing programs for qualified customers, we expect to
jointly develop and introduce new features, products and services.

● Growth at circuitcity.com. Sales originating from circuitcity.com grew strongly
throughout the year. These results reflect in part the tight integration between 
our Web site and our stores. We expect to take advantage of opportunities that
would allow us to further grow Web sales. We took a step in that direction in 
early fiscal 2005 when we signed an agreement to acquire the assets of MusicNow, 
Inc. MusicNow gives us the chance to deliver exciting digital content to 
Web customers.

W .  A L A N  M C C O L L O U G H

Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Officer
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towards building stores that can support
an industry-leading shopping experience.
Since the beginning of fiscal 2001, we
have relocated, fully remodeled or newly
constructed 131 stores. We believe that
approximately one-third of our remain-
ing stores would produce stronger
returns if moved to better locations and
that we can build approximately 100
stores in newly developed trade areas.
We are committed to building in prime
real estate locations. With that in mind,
we expect to open 60 to 70 new or relo-
cated Superstores during fiscal 2005.

We also will continue to refine our
merchandise assortment and displays. In
fiscal 2004, we refixtured 222 stores,
adding space for new video technolo-
gies. The flexible fixtures in these stores
will facilitate the introduction of new

● Cost and expense reductions. We
also made structural changes focused
on bringing costs and expenses in
line with our revenues. Through
workload elimination, consolidation
of activities, process improvements,
purchasing enhancements, outsourc-
ing and a variety of other actions, we
are making fundamental changes that
will allow us to compete profitably.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Despite these achievements, our fiscal
2004 financial performance fell well
below our goals. Total sales decreased 2
percent to $9.75 billion from $9.95 bil-
lion last fiscal year, and comparable store
merchandise sales decreased 3 percent.
The net loss from continuing operations
was $787,000, or 0 cents per share,

compared with $5.3 million, or 3 cents
per share, in fiscal 2003. The lower-
than-anticipated results were driven by
disappointing sales and a 75-basis-point
reduction in the gross profit margin.

As we look forward, we must drive
sales by improving the shopping experi-
ence and by changing consumer percep-
tion to match the updated experience.
We also must improve the operating
margin by stabilizing the gross profit
margin, reducing expenses and leverag-
ing sales growth. And, we must be pru-
dent in our use of your cash, executing
plans that we believe will produce
attractive long-term returns.

BUILDING A NEW CIRCUIT CITY

Driving sales. Over the next several
years, many of our resources will go
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Savitri Cohen — Passionate about customers and stores. But most of all, passionate about helping team
members become winners. Savitri’s district ranks among the top in the company. She rolls up her sleeves
and digs into the details. She sets high standards that her team shares. And if something can be made bet-
ter, Savitri and team can do it. Savitri is the kind of leader you want to follow — but be ready to keep up!

Mike Evans — Mike says, “None of us is as good as all of us.” He walks the talk. Last year, when he took
on a new store, his management team wanted to run the best store in the company. They demonstrated
the leadership skills that matter, calling their store “The Machine,” and declaring that nothing could stop
them. The store rose more than 100 places in the store rankings and shows no signs of stalling.

Lois Jeter — Lois joined us 14 years ago as a sales Associate. Today, she has the highest monthly sales
budget of anyone at Circuit City Direct and regularly exceeds it! She goes above and beyond. When a large
competitor failed to deliver, Lois worked with the customer at the last minute. She saved the day with 100
digital cameras. The customer’s response? “I’ll be back next year for 100 more!”

Steve Lerner — Steve makes work fun, but delivers serious results. “I love results!” He’s one of the best
in the industry for rap, R&B, jazz and gospel music. He knows the product, the customers and the
stores. From the Pearl Ridge, Hawaii, store to the Paramus, N.J., store, Steve knows how many copies to
send of a new CD title. “It’s a hobby. It’s a challenge. It’s all I know.”

Kevin Worthy — Kevin’s district manager calls him “the mayor of the city.” One visit to his store and the
reason is clear. “We know customers by first name…we know their kids.” With customers or his team,
Kevin’s goal is the same: “I want people to feel like they make a difference.” For nine years, Kevin has
been honored as a Circuit City Leader of Distinction — a record and a tribute to his leadership.

LEADERS OF THE TEAM
A great company is a great team. Team members at every level 
help drive the business. Our great team includes leaders like:
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products, as well as other merchandise
assortment adjustments.

At the end of fiscal 2004, we began
to introduce exclusive, private-label
merchandise brands, sourced by us
directly from the manufacturers. On
March 31, 2004, we announced that we
signed a definitive agreement to acquire
InterTAN, Inc., a leading retailer of both
private-label and internationally branded
products with headquarters in Canada,
in a cash tender offer for $14 per
InterTAN common share. We believe
this transaction will bring to Circuit
City a management team with extensive
sourcing experience for private-label
merchandise and creative in-store mer-
chandising capabilities and enable us to
accelerate the offering of private-label
merchandise to our customers. It also
allows us to enter Canada with a com-
pany that already has a proven retail for-
mat. We also believe the combination of
the two companies will create inventory
purchasing synergies for both.

In fiscal 2004, we continued the
move in our Superstores to compensa-
tion and staffing models that are consis-
tent with the shopping behavior of
today’s consumer. Our new operating
model enables consumers to browse the
store and shop on their own or receive
assistance if they want it. It also helped
generate approximately $130 million in
labor savings from comparable stores,
further positioning us to compete in
today’s climate. On the other hand, it
meant that our store Associates worked
through major changes during the fiscal
year. In fiscal 2005, our focus will return
to execution and the consistent delivery
of outstanding customer service.

For many consumers, the Web is an
integral part of the shopping experience.
Based on a mix of industry research, we
believe that in calendar 2003 the per-
centage of consumer electronics sold
online outpaced the average percentage
of all retail products sold online. We are

redesigning circuitcity.com in fiscal
2005, introducing even better naviga-
tion tools, improved merchandise
presentations and more Web-tailored
promotions.

Circuit City is changing, and we
want consumers to know. Our research
shows that our results are hampered by
consumer perception of our stores. In
fiscal 2005, our advertising will con-
tinue to emphasize the values and solu-
tions we offer. In-store signage will
mirror this focus.

Improving operating margins. Although
we are focused on increasing our sales,
we also are developing cost and expense
structures that we believe will support
reasonable profitability at current sales
levels. As we grow revenues, the operat-
ing margin would benefit further from
these reduced costs and expenses.

We believe that efforts such as the
introduction of private-label brands,
including those available through
InterTAN; increased accessory sales;
purchasing via reverse auctions and
direct imports; and a continued strong
focus on the efficiency of our service
and distribution organizations will con-
tribute to a more stable gross profit
margin. We believe that the structural
actions I mentioned earlier can help
reduce expenses significantly. We will
relentlessly pursue these and other
improvements in fiscal 2005.

MANAGEMENT’S COMMITMENT

And finally, we must be conscious of the
trust you place in us as your manage-
ment team. We ended fiscal 2004 with
$783 million in cash and are on track to
generate significant net cash proceeds
from the sale of our private-label finance
operation in early fiscal 2005. We
understand our responsibility to be
good stewards of these resources.

We believe the investments we are
making in new stores coupled with our
operational changes are the best avenues

to strong returns on shareholder equity.
We also believe in strategic acquisitions,
such as InterTAN. We expect to utilize
cash of approximately $300 million to
acquire InterTAN, but anticipate that
the transaction will be accretive to earn-
ings in fiscal 2005. Believing that at
recent price levels share repurchases are
also a prudent use of cash, we initiated a
stock buyback program in January 2003.
As of February 29, 2004, we had repur-
chased and retired approximately 9.3
million shares of common stock at a cost
of $84.6 million.

LEADERSHIP ADDITIONS

In June 2003, Mike Foss joined Circuit
City as senior vice president and chief
financial officer. Mike brought a wealth
of experience in both finance and gen-
eral management. Since joining us, he
has led our efforts to build and execute
our strategy for the finance operations
and to reduce costs and expenses.

Ernie Speranza, a retail industry
veteran with more than 35 years expe-
rience, joined us in April 2004 as senior
vice president and chief marketing 
officer. Ernie spent nearly 20 years 
at Toys “R” Us, Inc., serving as senior
vice president marketing and advertis-
ing, international and senior vice 
president marketing and advertising,
U.S. His career covers a wide range 
of marketing programs, including 
unified global campaigns.

We have faced numerous challenges
over the past year. Revitalizing our com-
pany will take more than a short-term
commitment, but I believe we can “Build
a New Circuit City” for consumers and
for our Associates and our shareholders.

Sincerely,

W. ALAN M C COLLOUGH
MARCH 31,  2004
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BUILDING A NEW CIRCUIT CITY

A REVITALIZED SHOPPING

EXPERIENCE

To revitalize our business and create
strong financial returns, we must 
begin by revitalizing our stores. And 
to that objective, we bring a multi-
pronged approach.

Superior Real Estate
In fiscal 2003, we undertook an exhaus-
tive analysis of our existing store base.
From a database containing hundreds of
variables, we distilled specific character-
istics that help create a successful store.
Chief among them is the store site,
including such factors as its proximity
to specific retailers, ease of access and
consumer electronics purchasing power
in the trade area. With this knowledge
in hand, we set out to find prime real
estate for either relocations or entries
into new trade areas. The result for 
fiscal 2005 is a plan to open 60 to 70
Superstores. All sites will meet the new,
higher real estate standards. Including
the fiscal 2005 plans, we have identified
opportunities to open stores in approxi-
mately 100 incremental trade areas and
to relocate approximately one-third of
our stores.

An Exceptional In-Store Experience
Whether new or old, a store’s sustained
success also depends on the shopping
experience inside the store. Our store
Associates are an integral part of that
experience. We initiated online sales
training, or e-learning, programs in
fiscal 2001 and have expanded and
refined these programs since that time.
Sales training modules focus on our
standards of service, product informa-
tion related to the Associate’s assigned
product specialty and store operations.
Online training provides a learning for-
mat that is familiar to today’s applicant
pool, and it reduces both training time
and costs.

Shopping carts and easy-to-find cash registers
let customers browse our stores at leisure, but,
when ready, complete their purchases quickly.

“Tightly integrating

merchandising and store

operations supports

exceptional customer

service and the execution

of our business plans for

each product category.”
J O H N  W .  F R O M A N

Executive Vice President 

Chief Operating Officer



In fiscal 2004, we improved our
operating efficiency through process
improvements in a number of store
human resource functions. For
example, by outsourcing the applicant
screening process to Unicru Inc., the
nation’s leading provider of hiring man-
agement systems for hourly employees,
we reduced the time to hire a new store
Associate by more than 50 percent and
thus significantly decreased the time
required to complete seasonal hiring.
Faster screening and a high applicant-
to-hire ratio will enable us to save
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money, as well as locate and hire the
best-qualified candidates.

We also have reduced the number
of divisions and regions within our
store operations — a shift that we
believe will result in more consistent
direction and performance across all
stores. In fiscal 2005, we will focus 
on store management, refining the
management structure and adjusting

The Consumer Electronics Association projects that sales of digital televisions will grow 33 percent in
calendar 2004. Digital accounted for more than 80 percent of our big-screen television sales in fiscal 2004.
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management compensation to reward
both customer service and increased
Associate productivity.

Great store locations. Well-trained
Associates. We cannot stop there. We
also must offer a broad and unique
merchandise assortment that includes
new technologies and great values. Our
assortment must be dynamic, responding
to projected changes in the industry’s
product trends. With that in mind, our
most recent store designs feature flexi-
ble displays to accommodate new prod-
uct offerings.

The Consumer Electronics Associa-
tion projects that sales of digital televi-
sions will grow 33 percent in calendar
2004. Growth has been driven by sales
of flat-panel technologies and lower
prices for rear-projection digital televi-
sion. Consistent with the industry pro-
jections, our stores now showcase
dramatic and powerful video assort-
ments, including technology-leading
DLP, LCD and plasma displays.
Digital now represents approximately
65 percent of our big-screen assort-
ment and in fiscal 2004 accounted for
more than 80 percent of our big-
screen television sales.

Our newest stores and the 222 stores
refixtured in fiscal 2004 better showcase
consumer electronics solutions for
today’s consumers. Related products are
in view of the customer and the sales
Associate, helping to ensure that cus-
tomers leave the store with everything
they need to enjoy today’s electronic
technologies. Buying a digital camera?
Don’t forget extra batteries, extra mem-
ory, a protective case and, of course,
paper and a digital photo printer to pro-
duce your treasured memories. We want
you to enjoy your purchase immediately,
not after two or three trips back to the
store! For home theater and computer
networking products, we offer a variety
of home installation packages, all

BUILDING A NEW CIRCUIT CITY

designed to get your solution up and
running as quickly as possible.

In addition to offering one of the
best selections of name-brand products
in our industry, we are introducing our
own unique merchandise brands tai-
lored to specific needs within a broad
consumer base. Products carrying these
brand names will be available exclu-
sively at Circuit City. Want a great
value on an LCD computer monitor?
Try our Liquid Video brand. How
about a bit more fashion in your con-
sumer electronics? A trendy color or
exciting texture? Check out Verge. Or
perhaps, you just want something that
is easy to use and inexpensive. It is
available in our esa brand — easy, sim-
ple, affordable — which will cross all
hardware product categories.

Advertising Value and Solutions
We know that many of our customers
also shop with our competitors, looking

“By presenting one

unified message across

every customer touchpoint,

we will build our 

brand and drive traffic 

to our stores.”
E R N E S T  V .  S P E R A N Z A

Senior Vice President 

Chief Marketing Officer
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“Our largest store is 

circuitcity.com, which has

great information, a wide

selection and 24/7 customer

service from our telecenter,

1-800-The-City.”
F I O N A  P.  D I A S

Senior Vice President 

President Circuit City Direct

worldwide — the assortment of the
Web. Circuit City is part of that excit-
ing retail universe with a site that offers
competitive prices, extensive selection
and outstanding service.

Circuitcity.com offers extensive
information, including customer
reviews, on more than 4,800 products.
More than 4,700 products can be pur-
chased online and directly shipped or

delivered to the customer’s home.
Circuit City customers also can pur-
chase more than 300,000 music,
movie and game titles via our Web
site. Our unique Express Pickup fea-
ture enables consumers to check the
real-time inventory at any of our more
than 600 Circuit City stores, order 
a product online and pick it up in 
the store within 15 minutes of pur-
chase. Beginning in fiscal 2004,
circuitcity.com customers could pur-
chase big-screen televisions online, giv-
ing them access to more than 145
televisions in all screen sizes, including
the popular DLP, LCD and plasma
displays. We also added around-the-
clock customer service via telephone,
live chat and email and improved the
site’s functionality and reliability.

for the best prices and the best selec-
tion. We communicate with our core
customers through a rich mix of adver-
tising vehicles, including direct mail
customized to fit their buying behav-
ior, broadcast campaigns that reach
today’s video-hungry customers,
Internet-based advertising seen as they
surf the Web and our regular newspa-
per tabs that focus on the latest values

available in our stores. Throughout fis-
cal 2005, our advertising will drive
home the message that Circuit City is
a place where consumers can find great
value and great consumer electronics
solutions. The goals of our marketing
program will be to increase consumer
traffic in our stores and enhance con-
sumer perception of both our stores
and price competitiveness. We want
consumers to experience the new
Circuit City!

Circuitcity.com: Shopping Online
The vast number of retail locations
where today’s consumers can shop is
daunting — especially since it includes
their own homes. They can sit down in
the convenience of their homes and
shop the largest assortment available

Our newest stores showcase complete consumer electronics solutions. Related products are adjacent to one
another, helping customers find everything they need to enjoy their purchase.
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A REVITALIZED FINANCIAL

PERFORMANCE

The ultimate goal of the new Circuit
City is better returns for our sharehold-
ers. How do the plans we have outlined
here translate into success?

First and foremost, we must drive
additional sales volume. We believe
that our new store operating model,
including its compensation and
staffing structure as well as its dynamic
merchandising capabilities, and con-
tinued enhancement of circuitcity.com
will help generate this needed growth.
We also believe that our marketing
initiatives and improved consumer
perception of Circuit City as more
consumers have access to our latest
stores will drive even more incremental
sales volume.

In an intensely competitive retail
segment, where product life cycles move
from introduction to maturity at a
rapid pace and many consumers make
their purchase decision on price alone,
we also must maximize our gross profit
margin. Our focus on selling complete
solutions, including filling customers’
baskets with all the accessories they
need, should benefit the gross profit
margin. In addition, we are employing
reverse auctions, in which manufactur-
ers compete against one another in real
time through Web-based technologies,
to help ensure that we are buying qual-
ity products at the lowest possible cost.
And, by directly sourcing merchandise,
including our new, exclusive, private-
label brands, we are lowering costs from
manufacturing through delivery.

Finally, we must look at the expense
line. We reduced store labor costs by
approximately $130 million in fiscal
2004 largely as a result of our move 
to an hourly compensation model. 
We also are challenging all aspects of
our expense structure, utilizing strate-
gies such as workload elimination,

BUILDING A NEW CIRCUIT CITY

“Rationalizing cost and

expense structures, while

setting the stage for 

sustainable sales growth, 

is a key step in our 

revitalization.”
M I C H A E L  E .  F O S S

Senior Vice President

Chief Financial Officer
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We believe that cost and expense
reductions are needed to drive reason-
able profitability at our current sales vol-
ume. The operating margin would then
further benefit through sales growth
from new and existing stores. We believe
the long-term result will be higher oper-
ating margins and returns — a revital-
ized Circuit City.

We’re “Building a 

New Circuit City.” 

We Invite You to Visit!

consolidation, process improvements,
purchasing enhancements and out-
sourcing, as well as a variety of other
actions. In addition to these expense
reductions, we expect that the sale of
our bankcard finance operation and the
planned sale of our private-label finance
operation will remove significant
volatility from our earnings.

Circuitcity.com makes it easy to research and shop online. Circuitcity.com strives for outstanding service, 
and online customers have voted circuitcity.com as one of an elite group of only 10 retailers awarded
BizRate.com’s Circle of Excellence Award for three consecutive years.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY OF NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
(Amounts in millions except per share data)

Net sales and operating revenues...................................................... $9,745 $ 9,954 $ 9,518 $10,330 $10,503
Gross profit......................................................................................... $2,227 $ 2,350 $ 2,328 $ 2,466 $ 2,622
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes......... $ (1) $       (5) $ 107 $ 137 $ 438
Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations .............................. $ (1) $       (5) $ 68 $ 83 $ 271
Net (loss) earnings per share from continuing operations:

Basic .............................................................................................. $ — $ (0.03) $ 0.33 $ 0.41 $ 1.35
Diluted .......................................................................................... $ — $ (0.03) $ 0.33 $ 0.41 $ 1.33

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY OF NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS PERCENTAGES
(% of sales except effective tax rate)

Gross profit......................................................................................... 22.9 23.6 24.5 23.9 25.0
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes......... — (0.1) 1.1 1.3 4.2
Effective tax rate ................................................................................. 36.5 3.3 36.7 38.9 38.1
Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations .................................. — (0.1) 0.7 0.8 2.6

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in millions)

Total current assets.............................................................................. $2,919 $ 3,088 $ 3,653 $ 2,847 $ 2,943
Property and equipment, net .............................................................. $ 586 $ 650 $ 733 $ 797 $ 753
Long-term deferred income tax assets ................................................. $ 99 $ 65 $ 26 $ 4 $ —
Other assets......................................................................................... $ 29 $ 39 $ 11 $ 9 $ 10
Long-term assets of discontinued operations....................................... $ — $ — $ 143 $ 218 $ 250
Total assets......................................................................................... $3,633 $ 3,841 $ 4,565 $ 3,876 $ 3,955
Total current liabilities ........................................................................ $1,177 $ 1,275 $ 1,619 $ 1,272 $ 1,406
Long-term debt, excluding current installments.................................. $ 23 $ 11 $ 14 $ 33 $ 128
Accrued straight-line rent and other liabilities..................................... $ 210 $ 181 $ 162 $ 105 $ 123
Long-term deferred income tax liabilities ............................................ $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 11
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations ................................. $ — $ — $ 10 $ 92 $ 134
Total liabilities................................................................................... $1,409 $ 1,467 $ 1,805 $ 1,502 $ 1,802
Total stockholders’ equity ................................................................. $2,224 $ 2,374 $ 2,761 $ 2,373 $ 2,153
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ......................................... $3,633 $ 3,841 $ 4,565 $ 3,876 $ 3,955

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
(Amounts in millions)

Depreciation and amortization ........................................................... $ 198 $ 157 $ 134 $ 126 $ 133
Cash flow from operating activities of continuing operations ............. $ (132) $ (164) $ 887 $ 86 $ 609
Capital expenditures ........................................................................... $ 176 $ 151 $ 173 $ 275 $ 177

OTHER DATA

Cash dividends per share paid............................................................. $ 0.07 $ 0.07 $ 0.07 $ 0.07 $ 0.07
Return on average stockholders’ equity (%) ........................................ — (0.2) 2.6 3.7 13.3
Number of Associates at year-end ....................................................... 43,211 38,849 45,327 53,302 54,800
Number of Circuit City retail units at year-end .................................. 604 626 624 629 616

All earnings per share and dividends per share calculations have been adjusted to reflect a two-for-one stock split effective June 30, 1999. On June 16, 1999, Digital Video Express
announced that it would discontinue operations. On October 1, 2002, the CarMax auto superstore business was separated from the Circuit City consumer electronics business. On
November 18, 2003, the company completed the sale of its bankcard finance operation. Results from continuing operations shown above exclude Digital Video Express, CarMax and
the bankcard finance operation. All periods reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148.

See consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is designed to provide
the reader of financial statements with a narrative on our
results of operations; financial position, liquidity and capital
resources; critical accounting policies and significant estimates;
and the impact of recently issued accounting standards. This
discussion should be read in conjunction with the consoli-
dated financial statements and accompanying notes included
in this annual report to shareholders and the section titled
“Forward-Looking Statements” on page 24. All per share
amounts in this discussion are presented on a diluted basis.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In recent years, we have made several significant changes in
Circuit City’s operating structure as we focus attention on
improving the results of our core Circuit City business. These
changes have included the following:
● Effective October 1, 2002, we separated the CarMax auto

superstore business from the Circuit City business through
a tax-free transaction in which CarMax, Inc. became an
independent, separately traded public company.

● In November 2003, we sold our bankcard finance opera-
tion to FleetBoston Financial. We will continue to service
the bankcard accounts for FleetBoston until final conver-
sion to FleetBoston’s system. We expect this conversion to
occur in our first fiscal quarter ending May 31, 2004.

● In January 2004, we signed an agreement to sell our pri-
vate-label finance operation to Bank One Corporation and
to enter into an ongoing arrangement under which Bank
One will offer private-label and co-branded credit cards to
both new and existing customers. We expect that this trans-
action, which is subject to regulatory approvals and other
consents, will close in the second calendar quarter of 2004.

Results from both CarMax and the bankcard finance oper-
ation are presented as results from discontinued operations on
the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
included in this annual report to shareholders.

In our core Circuit City business, we have faced strong
competition over the past several years from other large
national retailers. Retail prices on many of the products we
sell have declined significantly as the rapid development time
of digital technology has led to shorter life cycles for products
or features. These short life cycles have resulted in the early
introduction of products into a wide variety of retailers,
including not only specialty chains but also major discounters,
and put pressure on gross profit margins. Our most immedi-
ate goals are to increase both our total and our comparable
store merchandise sales volumes and reduce our costs and
expenses so that we are competing profitably. Success in these
areas would improve our operating margin, an important met-
ric of our financial performance.

After some improvement in fiscal 2003, we were disap-
pointed by our sales performance in fiscal 2004. From the
beginning of fiscal 2001 through February 29, 2004, we built
as new, relocated or fully remodeled 131 stores as part of an
overall effort to bring a more contemporary shopping experi-
ence to Circuit City customers. In addition to new store
designs, we have increased inventory levels in virtually all stores
to help ensure that customers find the industry’s most popular
products and complete consumer electronics solutions, includ-
ing all the accessories they need. As we build stores, we are
committed to selecting superior real estate, and so, the mix of
new versus relocated stores opened in any one year will depend
upon the availability of excellent sites. In fiscal 2004, we identi-
fied approximately 100 new trade areas and expect to build
stores in a number of these areas, depending upon real estate
availability. We also have built an award-winning e-commerce
site, circuitcity.com, that provides extensive product informa-
tion and the ultimate shopping convenience. Despite these
changes, our store-level execution was not consistent with our
expectations in fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2005, we will focus signifi-
cant attention on improving in-store customer service.

Although gross profit margins declined in fiscal 2004, we
achieved progress on expense reductions. We reduced our
labor costs in comparable stores by approximately $130 mil-
lion in fiscal 2004 primarily by changing, in late fiscal 2003,
from a compensation structure that included a mix of com-
missioned and hourly Associates to a single hourly structure.
We also started other initiatives to help stabilize the gross
profit margin and reduce expenses in fiscal 2004 and will con-
tinue to aggressively pursue additional improvements.

We believe that our available cash resources are sufficient
to fund our fiscal 2005 activities, which may include
● purchases of merchandise inventory;
● capital expenditures, primarily for new and relocating stores;
● funding of the private-label credit card receivables until

completion of the sale;
● payment of dividends;

● expansion of our Web business;
● repurchases of common stock; and
● acquisitions that would support the initiatives underway in

our core business.

We also have the ability to utilize sale-leaseback transac-
tions and tenant improvement allowances to fund store con-
struction and to utilize our revolving credit facility for
short-term borrowing needs.

On March 31, 2004, we announced that we signed a
definitive agreement to acquire InterTAN, Inc. InterTAN is a
leading consumer electronics retailer of both private-label and
internationally branded products with headquarters in Barrie,
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Ontario. On April 13, 2004, we commenced a cash tender
offer of $14 per InterTAN common share. If successful, the
tender offer would be followed by a merger that would result
in InterTAN becoming a subsidiary of Circuit City. We
expect the cost of the acquisition, including estimated transac-
tion costs, will be approximately $300 million. We believe
that this acquisition would enable us to accelerate the offering
of private-label merchandise in our U.S. stores. We believe
that sales of private-label merchandise can contribute to stabi-
lizing our gross profit margin. This acquisition also would
give us our first presence in the Canadian market through a
company that has a proven track record and would create
inventory purchasing synergies for both companies.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Preparation of financial state-
ments requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabili-
ties. We use our historical experience and other relevant fac-
tors when developing our estimates and assumptions. We
continually evaluate these estimates and assumptions. Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements includes a discussion
of our significant accounting policies. The following account-
ing policies are those we consider critical to an understanding
of the consolidated financial statements because their applica-
tion places the most significant demands on our judgment.
Our financial results might have been different if other
assumptions had been used or other conditions had prevailed.

Calculation of the Value of Retained Interests in 
Securitization Transactions
We securitize the credit card receivables generated by our pri-
vate-label finance operation and retain an interest in the
receivables. We securitized the credit card receivables gener-
ated by our bankcard finance operation prior to the sale of
that operation in November 2003. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” we account for the securi-
tizations as sales of the credit card receivables. At February 29,
2004, the fair value of the retained interests in securitized pri-
vate-label receivables was $425.7 million and was determined
based on the estimated net proceeds from the planned sale of
the company’s private-label finance operation. At February 28,
2003, the fair value of the retained interests in securitized pri-
vate-label receivables was $239.1 million and was determined
based on the present value of expected future cash flows. Note
6 to the consolidated financial statements includes a discus-
sion of our credit card securitizations.

Calculation of the Liability for Lease Termination Costs
We account for lease termination costs in accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force No. 88-10, “Costs Associated
with Lease Modification or Termination,” and SFAS No. 146,
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities,” as applicable. When leased properties are no
longer used for operating purposes, we recognize a liability for
remaining costs related to the properties, reduced by any con-
tractual or estimated sublease income. Inherent in the calcula-
tion of the liability for lease termination costs are significant
management judgments and estimates, including estimates of
future sublease revenues, vacancy periods, tenant improve-
ment allowances, broker fees, taxes, insurance and mainte-
nance costs, and the credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate used
to discount the expected net cash payments. With assistance
from independent third parties, we review these judgments
and estimates on a quarterly basis, and the lease termination
cost liability is adjusted as appropriate. Fluctuations in the
economy and in marketplace demand for commercial proper-
ties can result in material changes in the liability for lease ter-
mination costs.

The liability for lease termination costs was $105.3 million
at February 29, 2004, and $74.3 million at February 28,
2003, and is included in other liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets. Notes 2(F) and 2(P) to the consolidated finan-
cial statements include a discussion of our accounting policies
related to leased properties that are no longer used for operat-
ing purposes.

Accounting for Pension Plans
We account for our defined benefit pension plan and our
unfunded nonqualified benefit restoration plan in accordance
with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,”
which requires that net pension expense recognized in finan-
cial statements be determined on an actuarial basis. SFAS No.
87 requires that the effects of both the performance of pen-
sion plan assets and changes in pension liability discount rates
on the computation of net pension expense be amortized over
future periods.

A significant element in determining the net pension
expense is the expected return on plan assets. To develop the
expected long-term rate of return assumption on our pension
plan assets, we use historical long-term return experience, the
expected investment mix of the plan’s assets and estimates of
future long-term investment returns. The rate of return
assumption is reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate.
For fiscal 2004, our expected rate of return on plan assets was
8.25 percent compared with 9.00 percent for fiscal 2003. Net
pension expense for our pension plans was $18.4 million in
fiscal 2004, $15.7 million in fiscal 2003 and $14.7 million in
fiscal 2002. These expenses are included in selling, general
and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements
of operations.

At the end of each fiscal year, we determine the weighted
average discount rate used to calculate the present value of
plan liabilities. The discount rate is an estimate of the interest
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rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled
at the end of the year. When estimating the discount rate, we
look to rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income invest-
ments that receive one of the two highest ratings given by a
recognized rating agency. The weighted average discount rate
was 6.00 percent at February 29, 2004, and 6.60 percent at
February 28, 2003. The decline in our weighted average dis-
count rate was due to the decline in market interest rates.

The rate of increase in compensation levels is another
assumption used for determining net pension expense. We
determine this rate based upon annual reviews of plan partici-
pants’ historical levels of salary increases and expectations
regarding potential future salary increases. Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of our
pension plans.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Expense
We account for stock-based compensation expense in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.”
We value stock options issued using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model and recognize expense over the period in
which the options vest. This valuation model was developed
for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that do
not have vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Option
valuation models require us to make highly subjective assump-
tions, including the expected future volatility of the stock
price, expected dividend yield, risk-free interest rate and
expected life of the option. Because the stock options granted
have characteristics that are significantly different from those
of traded options, and because changes in the subjective
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, the
existing option valuation models, including the Black-Scholes
model, do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of
the fair value of our employee stock options. Note 14(B) to
the consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of
the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model and the esti-
mated fair value of our stock options.

Accounting for Cash Consideration Received from Vendors
We account for cash consideration received from vendors in
accordance with EITF No. 01-9, “Accounting for Considera-
tion Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller
of the Vendor’s Products),” EITF No. 02-16, “Accounting by
a Reseller for Cash Consideration Received from a Vendor,”
and EITF No. 03-10, “Application of Issue No. 02-16 by
Resellers to Sales Incentives Offered to Customers by
Manufacturers.” We receive cash consideration from vendors
through a variety of programs and arrangements, including
cooperative advertising and vendor allowances. Given the pro-
motional nature of our business, these vendor allowances are
generally intended to offset our costs of promoting, advertis-
ing and selling the vendors’ products in our stores. Inherent in

the accounting for cash consideration received from vendors
are significant management judgments and estimates, includ-
ing the percentage of vendor allowances to be amortized to
cost of sales, buying and warehousing and the percentage of
vendor allowances that relate to inventory still on hand. We
review these judgments and estimates on a monthly basis and
make adjustments as appropriate.

We recognize the majority of vendor allowances as a reduc-
tion to cost of sales, buying and warehousing. Cash considera-
tion received as part of cooperative advertising programs that
represents a reimbursement of specific, incremental, identifi-
able direct costs incurred by us to advertise the vendors’ prod-
ucts is reported as a reduction of advertising expense in the
period in which the advertising occurs.

In November 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued EITF No. 03-10, which addresses whether con-
sideration received by a reseller from a vendor that represents
reimbursement by the vendor for honoring the vendor’s sales
incentives offered directly to consumers should be recorded as
a reduction of the cost of the reseller’s purchases from the ven-
dor, and therefore, characterized as a reduction of cost of sales
under the guidance in EITF No. 02-16. We adopted EITF
No. 03-10 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Because our
policies already were consistent with the provisions of EITF
No. 03-10, the adoption of this standard did not have an
impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash
flows. Note 2(D) to the consolidated financial statements
includes a discussion of our accounting policies related to ven-
dor allowances.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
Effective December 1, 2003, we adopted the fair value recog-
nition provisions for stock-based compensation in accordance
with SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148. As a
result, we now recognize an expense associated with stock
options and the employee stock purchase plan. We restated
prior periods to reflect the adoption of this standard. The
expense associated with stock options and the employee stock
purchase plan are presented as stock-based compensation
expense on the consolidated statements of operations. Stock-
based compensation expense also includes expenses related to
restricted stock, which were previously included in selling,
general and administrative expenses.

Net Sales and Operating Revenues
For the fiscal year ended February 29, 2004, our total sales
decreased 2 percent to $9.75 billion, and comparable store
merchandise sales decreased 3 percent. In fiscal 2003, total
sales increased 5 percent to $9.95 billion from $9.52 billion
in fiscal 2002, and comparable store merchandise sales
increased 4 percent.

A store’s sales are included in comparable store merchan-
dise sales after the store has been open for a full year. All Web-
originated sales are included in comparable store merchandise
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sales. Sales from relocated stores are included in comparable
store merchandise sales. Sales from closed stores are included
in comparable store merchandise sales until the month in
which the stores are closed.

PERCENT SALES CHANGE FROM PRIOR YEAR

Fiscal Total Comparable

2004 .............................................................................. (2)% (3)%

2003 .............................................................................. 5)% 4)%

2002 .............................................................................. (8)% (10)%

The fiscal 2004 total sales decrease reflects the decline in
comparable store merchandise sales partly offset by the addi-
tion of eight Superstores. In February 2004, we closed 19
underperforming Superstores. We also closed one Superstore
in advance of the planned opening of a replacement
Superstore early in fiscal 2005. None of the closings had a
material impact on fiscal 2004 total sales.

The fiscal 2003 total sales increase reflects the increase in
comparable store merchandise sales and the addition of eight
Superstores. In April 2002, we closed one underperforming
Superstore. The fiscal 2003 sales results reflect progress
towards improving the overall shopping experience in our
stores, but were also achieved against a 10 percent comparable
store merchandise sales decline for fiscal 2002.

We were disappointed by the comparable store merchan-
dise sales decline in fiscal 2004, especially given the gains we
produced in fiscal 2003. Our store Associates worked through
major changes in the operating model during fiscal 2004, and
we believe that store execution suffered as a result. This weak
execution was reflected in an overall reduction in customer
satisfaction levels. Higher-than-normal turnover in store-level
management contributed to the reduction. In fiscal 2005, we
will refocus on execution and the consistent delivery of out-
standing customer service in all stores.

We also believe the lower sales reflect our continued need
to upgrade our store base and improve execution of our mer-
chandising and marketing programs. In addition, we believe
the results reflect our industry’s continued intense competition
and short product life cycles, both of which have reduced
average retail prices and thus the average ticket in our stores.

During the past two years, we have focused on

● providing better customer service by updating our store
design;

● relocating older stores, giving them the benefits of both a
better location and an updated design;

● changing our sales strategy, including eliminating our com-
missioned compensation structure at the end of fiscal 2003;

● introducing new merchandising strategies, such as better in-
stock positions in key categories, placement of more inven-
tory on the sales floor and maintaining a “good/better/best”
selection;

● implementing merchandise and product specialist training
programs that emphasize the need to sell complete solu-
tions to customers and that we expect to help increase the
average ticket;

● driving traffic to our stores through a more focused market-
ing campaign and attractive promotions, particularly in traf-
fic-driving categories such as entertainment software; and

● utilizing the Web to deliver extensive product information
and the convenience of e-commerce to our customers.

For fiscal 2004, we generated strong comparable store sales
growth in digital imaging products and accessories; LCD and
plasma display devices; digital televisions, including slim-line
technologies; notebook computers; and the traffic-driving
movies and music software categories. Web-originated sales
grew strongly throughout fiscal 2004.

In fiscal 2003, we experienced solid sales growth in the
television category, driven by strong sales of big-screen televi-
sions, particularly digital televisions, and portable televisions,
as well as growing sales of new display technologies, includ-
ing plasma and LCD display devices. We also generated
strong sales increases in entertainment software products,
driven by sales gains in DVD movies and video game soft-
ware. Sales of mobile electronics increased, reflecting con-
sumer interest in new in-car audio and video products. In the
second half of fiscal 2003, sales weakened in two higher mar-
gin categories, digital satellite systems and wireless communi-
cations, reflecting, we believe, the slowing in new subscriber
growth for these categories.

PERCENT OF MERCHANDISE SALES BY CATEGORY

Fiscal 2004 2003 2002

Video........................................................... 41% 40% 39%

Audio........................................................... 13 15 15

Information technology ............................... 32 32 34

Entertainment.............................................. 14 13 12

Total ............................................................ 100% 100% 100%

From the beginning of fiscal 2001 through February 29,
2004, we built as new, relocated or fully remodeled 131
stores. As of February 29, 2004, 24 of the relocated stores had
been open for more than six months. In their first full six
months following grand opening, these stores produced an
average sales change that was approximately 28 percentage
points better than the sales pace of the remainder of the store
base during the same time periods and an internal rate of
return of approximately 16 percent. As we continue to add
stores to the relocation base, we expect results from relocated
stores will vary.
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STORE MIX

Retail Units at Year-End
Fiscal 2004 2003 2002

Superstores ........................................................... 599 611 604

Mall-based stores.................................................. 5 15 20

Total..................................................................... 604 626 624

SUPERSTORE SALES PER TOTAL SQUARE FOOT

Fiscal

2004........................................................................................................ $484

2003........................................................................................................ $491

2002........................................................................................................ $478

SUPERSTORE SQUARE FOOTAGE SUMMARY

Fiscal Total Sq. Ft Selling Sq. Ft.

2004............................................................... 20,133,411 12,063,551

2003............................................................... 20,271,427 12,003,045

2002............................................................... 20,046,725 11,755,124

EXTENDED WARRANTY REVENUE

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Dollar amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Extended warranty revenue................ $325.5 $360.2 $375.6

Percent of total sales .......................... 3.3% 3.6% 3.9%

We sell extended warranty programs on behalf of unrelated
third parties who are the primary obligors. The gross profit
margins on products sold with extended warranties are higher
than the gross profit margins on products sold without
extended warranties. The decline in extended warranty sales as
a percentage of total sales from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 pri-
marily reflects

● the declines in average retails and rapid technological
developments, both of which encourage consumers to
replace products rather than purchase warranties that
would cover future repairs and

● weak in-store execution, resulting, we believe, from a sub-
stantial increase in part-time sales Associates prior to our
peak selling season.

Extended warranty sales as a percentage of total sales stabi-
lized on a year-over-year basis in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2004, but we remain cautious in our outlook given the overall
trends of the past two years.

The decline in extended warranty sales as a percentage of
total sales from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 primarily reflects
● the higher percentage of our sales mix that was comprised

of products, such as entertainment software, for which
extended warranties typically are not available;

● the lower percentage of our sales mix represented by per-
sonal computers, which typically have high extended war-
ranty penetration rates; and

● the declines in average retails and rapid technological
developments.

Gross Profit
The gross profit margin was 22.9 percent in fiscal 2004, 23.6
percent in fiscal 2003 and 24.5 percent in fiscal 2002. The
lower gross profit margin in fiscal 2004 primarily reflects reduc-
tions in extended warranty sales during the first nine months
and, in the fourth quarter, heavy promotions, particularly in
December, on desktop personal computers; aggressive industry
pricing on big-screen and advanced televisions; and some shifts
in the merchandise mix to lower margin products. Reduced
service and distribution costs partly offset these factors.

The decline in the gross profit margin during fiscal 2003
reflects a combination of factors, including changes in mer-
chandise mix and a more promotional pricing environment.
Weaker sales of higher-margin digital satellite systems and
wireless communications and stronger sales of lower-margin
entertainment software and other traffic-driving items con-
tributed to the reduced gross profit margin. The gross profit
margin decline in fiscal 2003 was offset in part by solid sales
growth of fully featured products such as big-screen televisions.

The fiscal 2002 gross profit margin was reduced by lease
termination costs of $10 million related to the exit from the
appliance business, which was completed in late fiscal 2001.
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, we increased our liability
for lease termination costs related to the appliance exit
because of the weakening in both the economy and market-
place demand for commercial properties during the year.

We are undertaking a number of initiatives to stabilize the
gross profit margin. These initiatives include the introduction
of private-label brands, increased attachment sales, purchasing
via reverse auctions and direct imports, as well as a continued
focus on improving the efficiency of our service and distribu-
tion operations and reducing inventory shrinkage. At the end
of fiscal 2004, we also changed our return policy to re-intro-
duce a restocking fee for specific product classes. These
restocking fees are consistent with those charged by many
competitors in our industry.

Finance Income
Prior to November 2003, both our bankcard finance opera-
tion and our private-label finance operation were conducted
through our wholly owned subsidiary First North American
National Bank, which is a limited-purpose credit card bank,
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and through consolidated special purpose subsidiaries and 
off-balance-sheet qualifying special purpose entities. As part 
of a focus on strengthening the financial performance of our
core business, we sold our bankcard finance operation to
FleetBoston Financial in November 2003 and, in January
2004, entered into an agreement to sell our private-label
finance operation to Bank One Corporation.

The sale agreement with FleetBoston includes a transition
services agreement under which employees of our bankcard
operation are continuing to service the bankcard accounts until
final conversion to FleetBoston’s system. We expect this con-
version will occur in our first fiscal quarter ending May 31,
2004. FleetBoston is reimbursing us for operating costs
incurred during the transition period. Results from the
bankcard finance operation are presented as results from dis-
continued operations on the consolidated financial statements;
therefore, its results are not included in the “Components of
Finance Income” table. See “Net (Loss) Earnings from
Discontinued Operations” on page 19.

Under the terms of the agreement with Bank One, the
purchase price for our private-label finance operation will be
based on the par value of the receivables. We also will enter
into an ongoing arrangement under which Bank One will
offer private-label and co-branded credit cards to both new
and existing customers. Bank One will compensate us for each
new account opened and provide special financing terms for
our customers. We anticipate that the ongoing relationship
with Bank One, with an initial term of seven years, will gener-
ate a pretax earnings contribution of approximately $30 mil-
lion annually, which is similar to the finance income we
would have generated if we had maintained ownership of the
private-label receivables. We expect to incur a pretax loss of
approximately $13 million, primarily driven by transition-
and transaction-related expenses, on the sale of the private-
label finance operation. We incurred $6.1 million of that loss
in fiscal 2004 and expect to incur the remainder in the first
half of fiscal 2005. We expect the Bank One transaction,
which is subject to regulatory approvals and other consents,
will close in the second calendar quarter of 2004.

We have accounted for our securitization of bankcard and
private-label credit card receivables as sales in accordance with
SFAS No. 140 and have recognized securitization income at
the time the receivables were securitized. Gains or losses on
the sales of receivables primarily reflect the difference between
the carrying amount of the credit card receivables sold and the
sum of the cash proceeds received and the fair value of the
retained interests in the securitized receivables. We serviced
the securitized bankcard receivables for a fee prior to the sale
of the bankcard operation in November 2003, and we con-
tinue to service the bankcard receivables under a transition
services agreement until final conversion to FleetBoston’s sys-
tem. We service the securitized private-label credit card receiv-
ables for a fee and will continue to do so until we complete

the sale of our private-label operation. Serviced private-label
receivables averaged $1.66 billion for fiscal 2004, $1.39 bil-
lion for fiscal 2003 and $1.10 billion for fiscal 2002.

COMPONENTS OF FINANCE INCOME

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Securitization income............................. $120.9 $107.3 $118.0

Payroll and fringe benefit expenses ......... 29.5 30.8 30.4

Other direct expenses ............................. 58.7 49.2 47.4

Finance income ...................................... $ 32.7 $ 27.3 $ 40.2

Securitization income primarily is comprised of the gain
on the sale of the credit card receivables, income from the
retained interests in the securitized receivables and income
related to servicing the securitized receivables, as well as the
impact of increases or decreases in the fair value of the
retained interests. The fiscal 2004 increase in finance income
resulted from the introduction of the co-branded feature to
the private-label card, allowing cardholders to make additional
purchases outside of Circuit City. This feature led to increased
purchase activity, little of which carried promotional interest
rates. It also resulted in interchange income and cash advance
fees, neither of which were earned before the co-branded fea-
ture was introduced.

The decrease in finance income from fiscal 2002 to fiscal
2003 reflects a $12.3 million increase in charge-offs, which
was partly offset by reduced securitization costs. The lower
securitization costs reflect declines in interest rates in that year.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Years Ended February 29 or 28
2004 2003 2002

% of % of % of
(Dollar amounts in millions) $ Sales $ Sales $ Sales

Store expenses...................... $1,993.0 20.5% $2,086.3 20.9% $2,007.7 21.1%

General and administrative 

expenses ........................ 171.4 1.8 195.3 2.0 200.1 2.1

Remodel and refixturing 

expenses ........................ 23.9 0.2 28.8 0.3 5.6 0.1

Relocation expenses ............. 30.5 0.3 19.1 0.2 13.7 0.1

Pre-opening expenses........... 8.6 0.1 7.2 0.1 6.8 0.1

Interest Income.................... (6.6) (0.1) (7.9) (0.1) (15.8) (0.2)

Total .................................... $2,220.8 22.8% $2,328.8 23.4% $2,218.1 23.3%

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses were 22.8 percent
of sales in fiscal 2004, compared with 23.4 percent in fiscal
2003 and 23.3 percent in fiscal 2002. The fiscal 2004
expenses include costs of $38.4 million related to the closing
of 19 Superstores during the year and a $5.9 million benefit
resulting from a reduction in liabilities associated with our gift

18 CIRCUIT CITY STORES 2004



card program. At the end of fiscal 2004, we ceased charging
customers a fee on gift cards with unredeemed balances after
24 months. We now adjust our liability based on historical
usage patterns for gift cards. The fiscal 2003 expenses included
$10.0 million related to the change in our store compensation
structure in February of that year.

The reduction in the selling, general and administrative
expense ratio from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 largely reflects
lower store operating costs, resulting primarily from reductions
in comparable store payroll, and a reduction of $25.5 million
in advertising expenses. Store-related payroll savings of approx-
imately $130 million from comparable stores were driven
primarily by the change, initiated in February 2003, in the
store compensation structure.

The fiscal 2004 expenses include costs associated with 18
relocations, as well as accelerated depreciation of assets related
to planned future relocations, and costs associated with fully
remodeling four Superstores and refixturing 222 Superstores.
Remodel expenses incurred in fiscal 2004 include $21.7 mil-
lion for refixturing.

The fiscal 2003 expenses include costs associated with
remodeling of the video departments in 299 Superstores, full-
store lighting upgrades in 311 Superstores and relocation of 11
Superstores. During fiscal 2002, we relocated eight Superstores,
remodeled 24 Superstores, including 12 full-store remodels pri-
marily in the Chicago, Ill., market and 12 partial remodels in
the Washington, D.C., and Baltimore, Md., markets.

The increase in the expense ratio from fiscal 2002 to fiscal
2003 reflects higher remodel and relocation costs in fiscal
2003 and the net cost of the compensation change, offset in
part by the leverage from increased comparable store mer-
chandise sales.

We are aggressively working to build an expense structure
that would support reasonable profitability at our most recent
sales levels. Workload elimination, consolidation of activities,
process improvements, purchasing enhancements, outsourcing
and a variety of other actions are helping us to reduce our
expense levels. For example, in fiscal 2004, we consolidated
our field organization, going from 13 regions to 10 regions
and from 66 districts to 58 districts, and consolidated our
indirect purchasing organizations and changed how we pro-
cure non-merchandise products and services. We also have
challenged our corporate overhead departments to identify
ways to reduce spending and have incorporated many of those
reductions into operational budgets.

Income Taxes
The effective income tax rate applicable to results from contin-
uing operations was 36.5 percent in fiscal 2004, 3.3 percent 
in fiscal 2003 and 36.7 percent in fiscal 2002. Income tax
expense or benefit results from applying the federal statutory
rate to earnings (loss) from continuing operations, adjusted for
state taxes and items not deductible for tax purposes. The
reduction in the effective tax rate in fiscal 2003 is a result of
the higher level of state income taxes and nondeductible items
in relation to the loss from continuing operations before
income taxes.

Net (Loss) Earnings from Continuing Operations
The net loss from continuing operations was $787,000, or 0
cents per share, for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2004,
compared with $5.3 million, or 3 cents per share, for the fis-
cal year ended February, 28, 2003, and net earnings from con-
tinuing operations of $67.6 million, or 33 cents per share, for
the fiscal year ended February 28, 2002.

The improvement in finance income and the reduction in
selling, general and administrative expenses drove the slight
improvement in performance from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004.
In fiscal 2003, the decline in the gross profit margin and
reduction in finance income more than offset the improvement
in sales, resulting in the net loss from continuing operations.

We are intensely focused on driving our sales volumes, sta-
bilizing our gross profit margin and reducing our expense
structure. Success with each of these initiatives would generate
improvement in the operating margin, a key metric of our
financial performance.

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Bankcard business ..................................... $(90.0) $25.6 $ 42.9

CarMax..................................................... — 62.0 89.5

Divx .......................................................... 1.5 — —

Net (loss) earnings from discontinued 
operations ........................................... $(88.5) $87.6 $132.4

Net (Loss) Earnings from Discontinued Operations
On November 18, 2003, we completed the sale of our bank-
card operation to FleetBoston Financial. Results from the
bankcard operation are presented as results from discontinued
operations. We expect that final conversion to FleetBoston’s
system will occur in the first fiscal quarter ending May 31,
2004. FleetBoston is reimbursing us for operating costs
incurred during the transition period. Severance costs are
being incurred ratably from the time at which these costs are
eligible for accrual through the final conversion date.

We anticipate that the sale of the bankcard operation will
result in an after-tax loss of approximately $82 million, includ-
ing $78 million of adjustments to the carrying value of our
retained interest in the securitized bankcard receivables and
approximately $4 million of other costs, including severance.
The after-tax loss from the discontinued bankcard operation
also includes bankcard-related income generated by a sub-
sidiary that provides reinsurance and indemnification related to
credit protection products sold by the finance operations.

In fiscal 2000, we ceased marketing the Divx home video
system and discontinued that business. Operating results of
Divx and the loss on the disposal of the business have been
presented as results from discontinued operations. In fiscal
2004, we reduced the provision for commitments under
licensing agreements, resulting in a $1.5 million after-tax ben-
efit to the net loss from discontinued operations.
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On October 1, 2002, we completed the separation of the
CarMax auto superstore business from the Circuit City con-
sumer electronics business. CarMax results are presented as
results from discontinued operations.

Results from discontinued operations reflect the adoption
of SFAS No. 123.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2004, we adopted SFAS
No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,”
which requires entities to record the fair value of a liability for
an asset retirement obligation in the period incurred and rec-
ognize accretion expense in subsequent periods. The adoption
of SFAS No. 143 did not have a material impact on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Effective in the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we adopted
EITF Issue No. 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrange-
ments with Multiple Deliverables,” which addresses when and
how an arrangement involving multiple deliverables should be
divided into separate units of accounting, as well as how con-
sideration under the arrangement should be measured and
allocated to the separate units of accounting in the arrange-
ment. The adoption of EITF No. 00-21 did not have a mate-
rial impact on our financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

Effective September 1, 2003, we adopted FASB
Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities,” which addresses how to identify variable interest
entities and provides guidance as to how a company may assess
its interests in a variable interest entity for purposes of deciding
whether consolidation of that entity is required. With the
adoption of FIN No. 46, we recorded a building and long-
term debt of $12.6 million on the consolidated balance sheet.
In December 2003, the FASB amended FIN No. 46. We do
not expect the adoption of the amended Interpretation to have
an impact on our financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

Effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we adopted
SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about
Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits,” which requires
additional disclosures about the assets, obligations, cash flows
and net periodic benefit cost of defined benefit pension plans
and other defined benefit postretirement plans. This
Statement does not change the measurement or recognition of
those plans required by SFAS No. 87, SFAS No. 88,
“Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of
Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits,”
and SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.” We have
included the disclosures required by SFAS No. 132 (revised
2003) in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we adopted
EITF No. 03-10, “Application of Issue No. 02-16 by Resellers
to Sales Incentives Offered to Consumers by Manufacturers,”
which addresses whether consideration received by a reseller
from a vendor that represents reimbursement by the vendor
for honoring the vendor’s sales incentives offered directly to
consumers should be recorded as a reduction of the cost of the
reseller’s purchases from the vendor, and therefore, character-
ized as a reduction of cost of sales under the guidance in EITF
No. 02-16. As our policies already were consistent with the
provisions of EITF No. 03-10, the adoption of this standard
did not have an impact on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Operating Activities. We used net cash of $131.7 million in
operating activities in fiscal 2004, compared with $164.1 mil-
lion in fiscal 2003. Net cash provided by operating activities
totaled $886.6 million in fiscal 2002.

The largest use of cash in fiscal 2004 was a $186.5 million
increase in retained interests in securitized private-label credit
card receivables. This increase was driven by higher subordi-
nated retained interests required for the private-label securiti-
zation transactions that were completed in early fiscal 2004.
We also used cash to help fund a $107.5 million increase in
merchandise inventory, which reflects our focus on customer
service. Our customer service initiatives have included
improved merchandise availability, exemplified by a broader
assortment in selected categories and fully stocked merchan-
dise displays. In fiscal 2004, we expanded our selection in two
growing categories — televisions, especially LCD and plasma
displays, and notebook computers. Accounts payable declined
$84.1 million, to 58 percent of inventory at February 29,
2004, as we slowed purchasing activity in the last two months
of the fiscal year to correct our inventory levels following
lower-than-anticipated December sales.

In fiscal 2003, we used cash to help fund a $175.5 million
increase in merchandise inventory to support our customer
service initiatives. This increase also reflected the impact of
higher-than-normal levels of out-of-stocks in selected cate-
gories at the end of fiscal 2002. Merchandise inventory had
decreased $176.3 million at the end of that fiscal year.
Accounts payable decreased $55.8 million, to 68 percent of
inventory at February 28, 2003. The reduction in the payables
to inventory ratio from the prior year reflects the purchase of
additional display inventory in early fiscal 2003. Our retained
interests in securitized receivables rose $92.9 million in fiscal
2003, reflecting a 21 percent increase in private-label receiv-
ables during that year and an increase in the required retained
interests in securitized receivables. In fiscal 2003, we also used
cash to make a $43.0 million supplemental contribution to
our pension plan. We recorded this contribution as an
increase in other assets.
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Investing Activities. Capital expenditures were $175.8 million
in fiscal 2004, $150.8 million in fiscal 2003 and $172.6 mil-
lion in fiscal 2002. Net of proceeds from the sales of property
and equipment, which include tenant improvement allowances,
capital expenditures were $129.2 million in fiscal 2004. Net of
proceeds from the sales of property and equipment, which
include sale-leaseback proceeds and tenant improvement
allowances, capital expenditures were $89.9 million in fiscal
2003 and $84.1 million in fiscal 2002. Of the fiscal 2004 total,
$43.0 million was related to relocations and full remodels,
$32.7 million was related to store refixturings, $28.2 million
was related to new store construction and $23.2 million was
related to information systems, store maintenance, distribution
and other items.

In fiscal 2005, we expect to open 60 to 70 Superstores,
with a relatively even split between new stores and relocations.
We anticipate that the vast majority of the locations will open
in the second half, with about a third in the fourth quarter.
We anticipate capital expenditures, net of tenant improvement
allowances and sale-leaseback proceeds, of approximately 
$165 million in fiscal 2005. We expect this total will include
approximately $62 million for relocations and one full
remodel, approximately $63 million for new store construc-
tion and approximately $40 million for information systems,
store maintenance, distribution and other items.

Capital expenditures have been funded primarily through
internally generated funds, landlord reimbursements and sale-
leaseback transactions. We expect that these sources will be suf-
ficient to fund capital expenditures for the foreseeable future.

Financing Activities. In January 2003, the board of directors
authorized the repurchase of up to $200 million of common
stock. The repurchases may be made from time to time in the
open market, with the price to be paid and the timing of pur-
chases at the discretion of management. During fiscal 2004,
we repurchased and retired approximately 9.3 million shares at
a cost of $84.6 million, which includes commission fees. We
did not repurchase any common stock in fiscal 2003. Based on
the market value of the common stock at February 29, 2004,
the remaining $115.6 million authorized would allow for the
repurchase of up to approximately 5 percent of the 203.9 mil-
lion shares then outstanding.

At February 29, 2004, outstanding debt totaled $23.8 mil-
lion, compared with $12.7 million at February 28, 2003. We
leased a corporate office building under an operating lease
arrangement with a variable interest entity. The adoption of
FASB Interpretation No. 46 required us to report the building
and related debt on the consolidated balance sheet, resulting in
the year-over-year increase in long-term debt. We used working

capital to repay a $100 million outstanding term loan at its
scheduled maturity date in fiscal 2003. At the payment date,
$22.2 million of outstanding debt had been allocated to
Circuit City and is included in payments on long-term debt
on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year
ended February 28, 2003. The remaining balance had been
allocated to CarMax and is included in cash used in discontin-
ued operations on the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003.

On June 27, 2003, we entered into a $500 million, four-
year revolving credit facility secured by inventory and certain
accounts receivable. This facility will be used to support letters
of credit and for short-term borrowing needs. Loans primarily
will bear interest at a spread over LIBOR or at prime. The
facility is scheduled to mature in June 2007 and provides for
an option to extend the facility by one year. The maximum
credit extensions, including loans and outstanding letters of
credit, permitted under the credit facility on any date are
determined by calculating a borrowing base that is a percent-
age of our eligible inventory and accounts receivable as of the
date of the credit extension. If the remaining borrowing avail-
ability under the facility falls below $100 million, cash divi-
dends and stock repurchases are limited to an aggregate of
$75 million in any fiscal year. In addition, if the remaining
borrowing availability under the facility falls below $50 mil-
lion for five consecutive business days, all proceeds from the
sale of inventory must be applied on a daily basis to payment
of amounts owed under the facility. The facility has represen-
tations and warranties, covenants and events of default that
are customary for this type of credit facility. This credit facility
replaced $210 million in committed seasonal lines, which we
terminated on the same date. At February 29, 2004, we had
no short-term borrowings under the facility. At February 29,
2004, outstanding letters of credit related to this facility were
$37.3 million, leaving $462.7 million available for borrowing.
We did not renew a $150 million unsecured revolving credit
facility at its expiration date on August 31, 2002.

During fiscal 2002, Circuit City Stores, Inc. completed the
public offering of 9.5 million shares of CarMax Group com-
mon stock. The net proceeds of $139.5 million were allocated
to Circuit City to be used for general purposes, including
remodeling of Superstores.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. At February 29, 2004, we had
cash and cash equivalents of $783.5 million, compared with
cash and cash equivalents of $884.7 million at February 28,
2003. Cash used in operating, investing and financing activi-
ties was partly offset by $282 million in net cash proceeds
received at the closing of the sale of the bankcard operation.
We expect that, after severance and other post-closing costs,
cash proceeds from the sale ultimately will net approximately
$279 million after tax.
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Our finance operation is conducted through our wholly
owned subsidiary First North American National Bank, which
is chartered, regulated and supervised by the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency. In fiscal 2003, the OCC
approved a reduction in the bank’s capital requirements that
was conditioned upon, among other things, our agreement to
provide FNANB with ongoing capital support to the extent
required for FNANB to be well capitalized under the OCC’s
capital adequacy regulations and, under certain limited cir-
cumstances, to pledge cash or marketable securities to
FNANB to secure that obligation. At February 29, 2004,
FNANB had cash and cash equivalents of $58.3 million that
was restricted for use by the bank and not available for general
corporate purposes. At that date, FNANB’s equity capital
totaled $47.3 million, resulting in capital ratios substantially
in excess of the minimum requirements for FNANB to be
well capitalized under OCC regulations. Based on the OCC’s
current capital adequacy regulations and the current account-
ing rules applicable to the securitization of FNANB’s credit
card receivables, we do not expect that the OCC will require
us to contribute additional capital to FNANB or to collateral-
ize that capital support obligation.

In connection with the announced sale of the private-label
finance operation to Bank One, we plan to relinquish the
FNANB national bank charter. As part of the statutory liqui-
dation process, we will assume all of FNANB’s remaining
obligations and our equity investment in FNANB will be
returned to us for general corporate purposes through a final
liquidating dividend and distribution of the remaining assets
of FNANB. As a result, our capital support obligations with
respect to FNANB will be terminated. We expect to complete
the liquidation process during the third quarter of fiscal 2005.

The net cash proceeds from the sale of the private-label
finance operation will depend upon our retained interests in
the receivables at the time of closing. Based on the receivable
balances at February 29, 2004, the after-tax net cash proceeds
from the sale would be approximately $450 million. We
expect that by the anticipated date of closing, seasonal receiv-
able declines will reduce our invested amount by approxi-
mately $80 million and will result in a corresponding
reduction in proceeds.

Subsequent to the end of fiscal 2004, we announced that
we have signed a definitive agreement to acquire InterTAN,
Inc., a leading consumer electronics retailer of both private-
label and internationally branded products with headquarters
in Barrie, Ontario, in a cash tender offer for $14 per InterTAN
common share. We commenced the cash tender offer on April
13, 2004. We expect the cost of this acquisition, including esti-
mated transaction costs, will be approximately $300 million.

We believe that this acquisition would enable us to accelerate
the offering of private-label merchandise in our U.S. stores,
give us our first presence in the Canadian market through a
company that has a successful record and create inventory pur-
chasing synergies for both companies. The transaction is con-
tingent upon customary closing conditions, including
regulatory and other standard approvals. We expect completion
of the tender offer in the second calendar quarter of 2004,
after which InterTAN will become a subsidiary.

Our primary sources of liquidity include available cash
resources, borrowing capacity under the credit facility, tenant
improvement allowances and sale-leaseback transactions. 
We have utilized asset securitizations to fund the receivables
generated by our finance operation, but expect to eliminate
this funding requirement following completion of the sale 
of the private-label credit card operation. Potential uses of
cash include
● purchases of merchandise inventory;
● capital expenditures, primarily for new and relocating

stores;

● funding of the private-label credit card receivables until
completion of the sale;

● payment of dividends;

● expansion of our Web business;

● repurchases of common stock; and

● acquisitions that would support the initiatives underway in
our core business.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AT FEBRUARY 29, 2004

2 to 3 4 to 5 After 5
(Amounts in millions) Total 1 Year Years Years Years

Contractual obligations:

Long-term debt........... $ 13.4 $ 0.4 $ 13.0 $ — $ —

Capital leases .............. 10.5 0.7 1.7 2.3 5.8

Operating leases.......... 4,595.0 351.1 703.0 674.3 2,866.6

Other contractual 
obligations ............ 5.6 5.6 — — —

Total ................................. $4,624.5 $357.8 $717.7 $676.6 $2,872.4

CarMax currently operates 23 of its sales locations
pursuant to leases under which Circuit City Stores, Inc. is 
the primary obligor. Circuit City Stores, Inc., rather than
CarMax, entered into these leases so that CarMax could 
take advantage of the favorable economic terms available to
us as a large retailer. We have assigned each of these leases to
CarMax, but we remain contingently liable under the leases.
In recognition of our ongoing contingent liability, CarMax
paid a $28.4 million special dividend to Circuit City Stores,
Inc., at the time of the separation in fiscal 2003. At February
29, 2004, the future minimum fixed lease obligations on
these 23 leases totaled $451.9 million.
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OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Credit Card Securitizations
We fund the private-label and co-branded credit card receiv-
ables generated by our finance operation through securitiza-
tion transactions. The finance operation sells its private-label
and co-branded credit card receivables to a special purpose
subsidiary, which, in turn, transfers the receivables to a securi-
tization master trust. The master trust periodically issues asset-
backed securities in public offerings and private transactions,
and the proceeds from the sale of these securities are distrib-
uted through the special purpose subsidiary to our finance
operation. The special purpose subsidiary holds various subor-
dinated asset-backed securities, which serve as credit enhance-
ment for the asset-backed securities held by third-party
investors. The finance operation will continue to service the
transferred receivables for a fee until the sale of the private-
label finance operation is complete. The master trust agree-
ment does not provide recourse to Circuit City or FNANB
for credit losses on the securitized receivables. Prior to the sale
of the bankcard finance operation to FleetBoston in
November 2003, we also funded the credit card receivables
generated by that operation through securitization transac-
tions. At February 29, 2004, the aggregate principal amount
of securitized credit card receivables totaled $1.88 billion. The
sale of the private-label finance operation will result in the ter-
mination of our private-label securitization program.

Securitization is the primary source of liquidity for financ-
ing our private-label and co-branded credit card receivables.
For information regarding securitization income and the
nature and amounts of interests retained by Circuit City in
connection with our securitization arrangements, see “Calcu-
lation of the Value of Retained Interests in Securitization
Transactions” on page 14 and “Finance Income” on page 17.

MARKET RISK

Receivables Risk
We manage the market risk associated with the revolving pri-
vate-label credit card portfolio of our finance operation.
Portions of this portfolio have been securitized in transactions
accounted for as sales in accordance with SFAS No. 140 and,
therefore, are not presented on the consolidated balance sheets.

Most of the accounts in the private-label credit card port-
folio are charged interest at rates indexed to the prime rate,
adjustable on a monthly basis subject to certain limitations.
The remaining accounts are charged interest at fixed annual
percentage rates. The following table presents the breakdown
by interest rate structure of the gross principal receivables out-
standing prior to discounting at February 29, 2004, and
February 28, 2003.

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003

Indexed to prime rate .................................................... $1,749 $1,460

Fixed APR..................................................................... 129 176

Total.............................................................................. $1,878 $1,636

We finance the private-label credit card receivables through
the issuance of public and private asset-backed securities, prin-
cipally at floating rates based on LIBOR and commercial
paper rates. We finance receivables held for sale with working
capital. At February 29, 2004, and February 28, 2003, the
total principal amount of receivables securitized or held for
sale prior to discounting was as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003

Floating-rate securitizations........................................... $1,812 $1,592

Held for Sale ................................................................. 66 44

Total.............................................................................. $1,878 $1,636

Interest Rate Exposure
Interest rate exposure relating to the private-label credit card
receivable securitizations represents a market risk exposure
that we have managed primarily with matched funding. We
also have the ability to adjust the rate on fixed-APR revolving
credit cards and the index on floating-rate credit cards, subject
to cardholder ratification, but we do not currently anticipate
the need to do so prior to completion of the sale of the pri-
vate-label portfolio to Bank One Corporation. Our ability to
effect these changes may be limited by competitive conditions.

The majority of our cardholder accounts have interest rates
indexed to prime, but the rates we charge our cardholders
may not change as frequently or to the same extent as our
funding costs. The difference is the result of a combination of
factors such as interest rate floors on the accounts that are
above the current level of the prime rate, interest-free promo-
tional financing and variations between changes in prime and
LIBOR or commercial paper rates. Accordingly, our securiti-
zation income could be adversely impacted by increases in
interest rates.
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The market and credit risks associated with our interest rate
caps are similar to those relating to other types of financial
instruments. Market risk is the exposure created by potential
fluctuations in interest rates and is directly related to the prod-
uct type, agreement terms and transaction volume. We have
entered into offsetting interest rate cap positions and, there-
fore, do not anticipate significant market risk arising from our
interest rate caps. Credit risk is the exposure to nonperfor-
mance of another party to an agreement. We have mitigated
credit risk by dealing with highly rated bank counterparties.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 provide companies with a “safe harbor” when making
forward-looking statements. This “safe harbor” encourages com-
panies to provide prospective information about their compa-
nies without fear of litigation. We wish to take advantage of the
“safe harbor” provisions of the Act. Our statements that are not
historical facts, including statements about management’s
expectations for fiscal 2005 and beyond, are forward-looking
statements and involve various risks and uncertainties.

Forward-looking statements are estimates and projections
reflecting our judgment and involve a number of risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those suggested by the forward-looking statements.
Although we believe that the estimates and projections
reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, our
expectations may prove to be incorrect. The United States
retail industry, and the specialty retail industry in particular,
are dynamic by nature and have undergone significant changes
in recent years. Our ability to anticipate and successfully
respond to the continuing challenges of our industry is key to
achieving our expectations. Important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from estimates or projections
contained in our forward-looking statements include
● changes in the amount and degree of promotional intensity

exerted by current competitors and potential new competi-
tion from competitors using either similar or alternative
methods or channels of distribution such as online and
telephone shopping services and mail order;

● changes in general U.S. or regional U.S. economic condi-
tions including, but not limited to, consumer credit avail-
ability, consumer credit delinquency and default rates,
interest rates, inflation, personal discretionary spending
levels, trends in consumer retail spending, both in general
and in our product categories, and consumer sentiment
about the economy in general;

● the presence or absence of, or consumer acceptance of, new
products or product features in the merchandise categories
we sell and changes in our merchandise sales mix;

● significant changes in retail prices for products we sell;
● changes in availability or cost of financing for working capi-

tal and capital expenditures, including securitization financ-
ing and financing to support development of our business;

● lack of availability or access to sources of inventory;
● inability to liquidate excess inventory should excess inven-

tory develop;
● failure to successfully implement sales and profitability

improvement programs for our Circuit City Superstores,
including our remodeling and relocation plan;

● consumer reaction to new store locations and changes in
our store design and merchandise;

● changes in the performance of the private-label portfolio,
including material changes in cardholder default rates or
payment rates;

● the timing and amount of any adjustments affecting the
proceeds from the sale of the bankcard operation;

● the timing and amount of severance costs or post-closing
changes to income that relate to the sale of the bankcard
operation;

● when or whether the sale of the private-label finance opera-
tion to Bank One will be completed;

● whether the sale of the private-label finance operation will
be completed on the terms announced, including without
limitation the ultimate sale price for the private-label
finance operation and the net cash proceeds from that sale;

● regulatory approvals and other consents that may be
required and the conditions that may be imposed in con-
nection with obtaining those approvals or consents related
to the private-label sale;

● the timing and amount of any adjustments affecting the
proceeds from the sale of the private-label operations;
transaction costs, including the costs associated with secur-
ing regulatory approvals and other consents; future levels
of bank conduit facility usage; and severance costs or post-
closing adjustments to income that may be required;

● our ability and the ability of Bank One to successfully inte-
grate our retail business with the credit card program to be
offered by Bank One;

● future levels of sales activity and the acceptance of the Bank
One credit program by consumers on an ongoing basis;

● our ability to attract and retain an effective management
team or changes in the costs or availability of a suitable
work force to manage and support our service-driven oper-
ating strategies;

● changes in production or distribution costs or costs of
materials for our advertising;

● availability of appropriate real estate locations for reloca-
tions and new stores;
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COMMON STOCK

The common stock of Circuit City Stores, Inc. is traded on the New York Stock Exchange.

Market Price of Common Stock Dividends

Fiscal 2004 2003 2004 2003

Quarter HIGH LOW HIGH LOW

1st.......................................................................................... 7.42 3.91 $24.59 $16.99 $.0175 $.0175

2nd ........................................................................................ 10.44 6.30 $23.41 $12.65 $.0175 $.0175

3rd ......................................................................................... 13.21 9.25 $17.55 $ 7.87 $.0175 $.0175

4th ......................................................................................... 13.03 8.69 $10.53 $ 4.11 $.0175 $.0175

Total ...................................................................................... $.0700 $.0700

● successful implementation of our customer service initiatives;
● the imposition of new restrictions or regulations regarding

the sale of products and/or services we sell, changes in tax
rules and regulations applicable to us or our competitors,
the imposition of new environmental restrictions, regula-
tions or laws or the discovery of environmental conditions
at current or future locations, or any failure to comply
with such laws or any adverse change in such laws;

● the timing and ultimate completion of the proposed acqui-
sition of InterTAN;

● our ability to integrate and operate InterTAN successfully
and to realize the anticipated benefits of the transaction,
including successfully introducing InterTAN’s products in
our Superstores and realizing inventory purchasing synergies;

● changes in InterTAN’s projected operating results;

● reduced investment returns in our pension plan;
● changes in our anticipated cash flow;
● the outcome and impact on InterTAN of litigation insti-

tuted by RadioShack Corporation to terminate InterTAN’s
right to use the RadioShack® name in Canada and related
rights to purchase merchandise through RadioShack; and

● adverse results in significant litigation matters.

For factors that may affect InterTAN’s operating results,
please refer to InterTAN’s annual report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003, and quarterly reports
for the fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2003, and
December 31, 2003.

We believe our forward-looking statements are reasonable;
however, undue reliance should not be placed on forward-
looking statements, which are based on current expectations.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands except per share data) 2004 % 2003 % 2002 %

NET SALES AND OPERATING REVENUES ................................. $9,745,445 100.0 $9,953,530 100.0 $9,518,231 100.0
Cost of sales, buying and warehousing .................................. 7,518,120 77.1 7,603,205 76.4 7,180,259 75.4
Appliance exit costs ............................................................... — — — — 10,000 0.1

GROSS PROFIT ....................................................................... 2,227,325 22.9 2,350,325 23.6 2,327,972 24.5
Finance income [NOTE 4] ........................................................ 32,693 0.3 27,292 0.3 40,242 0.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses [NOTE 2] .................. 2,220,796 22.8 2,328,763 23.4 2,218,060 23.3
Stock-based compensation expense [NOTES 2 AND 14]............... 38,658 0.4 53,251 0.5 42,629 0.4
Interest expense ..................................................................... 1,804 — 1,093 — 881 —

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before
income taxes..................................................................... (1,240) — (5,490) (0.1) 106,644 1.1

Income tax (benefit) provision [NOTE 10] ................................ (453) — (181) — 39,088 0.4

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ....... (787) — (5,309) (0.1) 67,556 0.7

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS [NOTE 3] .............................. (88,482) (0.9) 87,572 0.9 132,374 1.4

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS ............................................................ $ (89,269) (0.9) $ 82,263 0.8 $ 199,930 2.1

Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations 
attributed to:

Circuit City common stock......................................... $ (88,482) $ 65,264 $ 104,853

CarMax Group common stock.................................... $           — $ 22,308 $ 27,521

Weighted average common shares [NOTE 5]:
Circuit City:

Basic............................................................................ 205,865 207,217 205,501

Diluted........................................................................ 205,865 207,217 206,843

CarMax Group:
Basic............................................................................ — 37,023 32,140

Diluted........................................................................ — 38,646 33,997

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE [NOTES 1, 2, 3 AND 5]:

Basic:
Continuing operations ..................................................... $           — $       (0.03) $ 0.33
Discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City 

common stock............................................................. (0.43) 0.31 0.51

$ (0.43) $ 0.29 $ 0.84

Discontinued operations attributed to CarMax Group 
common stock............................................................. $           — $ 0.60 $ 0.86

Diluted:
Continuing operations ..................................................... $           — $       (0.03) $ 0.33
Discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City 

common stock............................................................. (0.43) 0.31 0.51

$ (0.43) $ 0.29 $ 0.83

Discontinued operations attributed to CarMax Group 
common stock............................................................. $           — $ 0.58 $ 0.81

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands except share data) 2004 2003

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents [NOTE 2]................................................................................................... $ 783,471 $ 884,670
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $547 and $1,075............................ 154,039 140,385
Retained interests in securitized receivables [NOTES 2 AND 6] ........................................................................................ 425,678 239,141
Merchandise inventory [NOTE 2] .................................................................................................................................................. 1,517,256 1,409,736
Prepaid expenses and other current assets......................................................................................... 38,617 18,165
Assets of discontinued operations [NOTE 3]........................................................................................ — 395,813

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS .................................................................................................................. 2,919,061 3,087,910
Property and equipment, net [NOTES 2, 8 AND 9]................................................................................. 585,903 649,593
Deferred income taxes [NOTES 2 AND 10]............................................................................................. 98,934 64,509
Other assets [NOTE 15] ....................................................................................................................... 29,102 39,252

TOTAL ASSETS .................................................................................................................................. $3,633,000 $3,841,264

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable [NOTE 2] ................................................................................................................ $ 879,635 $ 963,701
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities [NOTES 3 AND 15] ......................................................... 131,512 113,878
Accrued income taxes....................................................................................................................... 71,163 44,453
Deferred income taxes [NOTES 2 AND 10]............................................................................................. 90,210 91,403
Current installments of long-term debt [NOTES 9 AND 11]................................................................... 1,115 1,410
Liabilities of discontinued operations [NOTE 3].................................................................................. 3,068 60,180

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES ........................................................................................................... 1,176,703 1,275,025
Long-term debt, excluding current installments [NOTES 9 AND 11]...................................................... 22,691 11,254
Accrued straight-line rent [NOTE 2].................................................................................................... 98,470 97,427
Other liabilities [NOTE 11].................................................................................................................. 111,175 83,690

TOTAL LIABILITIES ........................................................................................................................... 1,409,039 1,467,396

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY [NOTES 1, 2, 13 AND 14]:

Common stock, $0.50 par value; 525,000,000 shares authorized;
203,899,395 shares issued and outstanding (209,954,840 in 2003) ................................................ 101,950 104,977
Capital in excess of par value ........................................................................................................... 922,600 965,551
Retained earnings............................................................................................................................. 1,199,411 1,303,340

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ...................................................................................................... 2,223,961 2,373,868

Commitments and contingent liabilities [NOTES 3, 11, 12 AND 15]

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ........................................................................... $3,633,000 $3,841,264

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net (loss) earnings ................................................................................................................... $ (89,269) $ 82,263 $ 199,930
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) earnings to net cash (used in) provided by

operating activities of continuing operations:
Net loss (earnings) from discontinued operations [NOTE 3].................................................... 88,482 (87,572) (132,374)
Depreciation and amortization............................................................................................. 197,969 157,469 134,371
Stock option expense............................................................................................................ 24,184 30,823 25,184
Amortization of restricted stock awards................................................................................ 13,395 20,828 15,678
Loss on dispositions of property and equipment .................................................................. 7,500 15,659 13,735
Provision for deferred income taxes ...................................................................................... (35,618) (18,664) 19,558
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net .................................................................. (13,654) 6,229 41,191
Increase in retained interests in securitized receivables ...................................................... (186,537) (92,888) (12,256)
(Increase) decrease in merchandise inventory.................................................................... (107,520) (175,493) 176,284
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets ....................................... (20,452) 21,081 16,071
Decrease (increase) in other assets..................................................................................... 10,150 (27,898) (2,359)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable ............................................................................ (84,066) (55,818) 202,289
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other current

liabilities and accrued income taxes .............................................................................. 35,232 (59,485) 118,064
Increase in accrued straight-line rent and other liabilities ................................................. 28,528 19,407 71,188

NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS .... (131,676) (164,059) 886,554

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment ...................................................................................... (175,769) (150,757) (172,580)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment ....................................................................... 46,590 60,838 88,461

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS .............................. (129,179) (89,919) (84,119)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

(Payments on) proceeds from short-term debt, net .................................................................. — (397) 184
Principal payments on long-term debt ..................................................................................... (1,458) (24,865) (19,788)
Repurchase and retirement of common stock [NOTE 13] ............................................................ (84,353) — —
Issuances of Circuit City common stock, net ........................................................................... 11,391 8,901 17,920
Issuances of CarMax Group common stock, net ...................................................................... — 298 (1,958)
Proceeds from CarMax Group stock offering, net [NOTE 5] ....................................................... — — 139,546
Dividends paid......................................................................................................................... (14,660) (14,687) (14,556)

NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS..... (89,080) (30,750) 121,348

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS [NOTE 3]:

BANKCARD OPERATION ............................................................................................................ 248,736 (94,533) (87,125)
CARMAX OPERATION ................................................................................................................ — 26,185 (2,904)
DIVX OPERATION ..................................................................................................................... — (10,500) (22,837)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents .......................................................................... (101,199) (363,576) 810,917
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year............................................................................ 884,670 1,248,246 437,329

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ..................................................................................... $ 783,471 $ 884,670 $1,248,246

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid (received) during the year for:
Interest ................................................................................................................................. $ 2,999 $ 1,824 $ 2,340
Income taxes ........................................................................................................................ $ 36,324 $ 107,946 $ (44,926)

Non-cash operating, investing and financing activities:
Asset acquired from variable interest entity .......................................................................... $ 12,600 $ — $ —
Liability assumed from variable interest entity...................................................................... $ 12,600 $ — $ —
Reduction of liability related to the discontinued Divx operation ........................................ $ 2,315 $ — $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Shares Outstanding Common Stock Capital In
Circuit CarMax Circuit CarMax Excess of Retained

(Amounts in thousands except per share data) City Group City Group Par Value Earnings Total

BALANCE AT FEBRUARY 28, 2001 

(as previously reported) [NOTES 2, 5 AND 14] ... 207,020 25,639 $ 103,510 $ 12,820 $ 642,838 $ 1,597,315 $ 2,356,483
Adjustment for the cumulative effect on 

prior years of the adoption of 
SFAS No. 123............................................ — — — — 55,440 (38,560) 16,880

Net earnings.................................................... — — — — — 199,930 199,930
Sale of CarMax Group common stock ............ — 9,517 — 4,758 134,788 — 139,546
Compensation for stock options ..................... — — — — 27,417 — 27,417
Exercise of common stock options .................. 541 1,941 270 971 9,669 — 10,910
Shares issued under employee stock 

purchase plans............................................ 867 — 434 — 13,494 — 13,928
Shares issued under stock incentive plans........ 1,068 2 534 1 13,605 — 14,140
Tax effect from stock issued ............................ — — — — 1,296 — 1,296
Cancellation of restricted stock ....................... (673) (248) (337) (124) (17,995) — (18,456)
Unearned compensation — restricted stock .... — — — — 12,985 — 12,985
Cash dividends — common 

stock ($0.07 per share)............................... — — — — — (14,556) (14,556)

BALANCE AT FEBRUARY 28, 2002

[NOTES 2, 3 AND 14] ........................................ 208,823 36,851 104,411 18,426 893,537 1,744,129 2,760,503
Net earnings.................................................... — — — — — 82,263 82,263
Compensation for stock options ..................... — — — — 34,637 — 34,637
Exercise of common stock options .................. 311 246 156 123 5,035 — 5,314
Shares issued under employee stock 

purchase plans............................................ 457 — 229 — 7,400 — 7,629
Shares issued under stock incentive plans........ 843 — 421 — 17,207 — 17,628
Tax effect from stock issued ............................ — — — — 5,986 — 5,986
Cancellation of restricted stock ....................... (479) (8) (240) (4) (8,081) — (8,325)
Unearned compensation — restricted stock .... — — — — 9,830 — 9,830
Cash dividends — common 

stock ($0.07 per share)............................... — — — — — (14,687) (14,687)
Distribution of CarMax, Inc. common 

stock to shareholders .................................. — (37,089) — (18,545) — (536,765) (555,310)
Special dividend from CarMax........................ — — — — — 28,400 28,400

BALANCE AT FEBRUARY 28, 2003

[NOTES 2 AND 14] ........................................... 209,955 — 104,977 — 965,551 1,303,340 2,373,868
Net loss ........................................................... — — — — — (89,269) (89,269)
Repurchases of common stock ........................ (9,266) — (4,633) — (79,720) — (84,353)
Compensation for stock options ..................... — — — — 24,184 — 24,184
Exercise of common stock options .................. 1,369 — 685 — 11,843 — 12,528
Shares issued under stock incentive plans........ 2,546 — 1,273 — 19,312 — 20,585
Tax effect from stock issued ............................ — — — — (10,595) — (10,595)
Cancellation of restricted stock ....................... (705) — (352) — (10,074) — (10,426)
Unearned compensation — restricted stock .... — — — — 2,099 — 2,099
Cash dividends — common 

stock ($0.07 per share)............................... — — — — — (14,660) (14,660)

BALANCE AT FEBRUARY 29, 2004....................... 203,899 — $101,950 $       — $922,600 $1,199,411 $2,223,961

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

From February 7, 1997, to October 1, 2002, the common
stock of Circuit City Stores, Inc. consisted of two common
stock series that were intended to reflect the performance of
the company’s two businesses. The Circuit City Group com-
mon stock was intended to reflect the performance of the
Circuit City consumer electronics stores and related opera-
tions and the shares of CarMax Group common stock
reserved for the Circuit City Group or for issuance to holders
of Circuit City Group common stock. The CarMax Group
common stock was intended to reflect the performance of the
CarMax auto superstores and related operations.

Effective October 1, 2002, the CarMax auto superstore busi-
ness was separated from the Circuit City consumer electronics
business through a tax-free transaction in which CarMax, Inc.,
formerly a wholly owned subsidiary of Circuit City Stores, Inc.,
became an independent, separately traded public company.
Following the separation, the Circuit City Group common
stock was renamed Circuit City common stock. CarMax results
are presented as results from discontinued operations. See Note
3 for additional discussion of the separation.

On November 18, 2003, the company completed the 
sale of its bankcard finance operation, which included Visa
and MasterCard credit card receivables and related cash
reserves. Results from the bankcard finance operation are pre-
sented as results from discontinued operations. See Note 3 for
additional discussion concerning the sale of the bankcard
finance operation.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to con-
form to the current presentation.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A) Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany bal-
ances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(B) Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial state-
ments in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

(C) Revenue Recognition: The company recognizes revenue
when the earnings process is complete, generally at either the
time of sale to a customer or upon delivery to a customer. The
company sells extended warranty contracts on behalf of unre-
lated third parties. The contracts extend beyond the normal
manufacturer’s warranty period, usually with terms, including
the manufacturer’s warranty period, from 12 to 60 months.
Because the third parties are the primary obligors under these
contracts, commission revenue for the unrelated-third-party
extended warranty plans is recognized at the time of sale.

The company also sells gift cards and records related
deferred revenue at the time of sale. The liability associated with

the sale of gift cards was $49.5 million at February 29, 2004,
and $46.0 million at February 28, 2003, and is included in
accounts payable on the consolidated balance sheets. Prior to
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, a monthly service fee was
assessed on gift cards with unredeemed balances after 24
months. Service fee revenue recorded as a reduction to selling,
general and administrative expenses was $2.5 million in fiscal
2004, $2.3 million in fiscal 2003 and $1.3 million in fiscal
2002. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the company
ceased charging customers the service fee. Upon eliminating the
service fee, the company began adjusting its liability based on
historical usage patterns for gift cards. In fiscal 2004, the com-
pany recorded a benefit of $5.9 million resulting from a reduc-
tion in liabilities related to the customer gift card program.

(D) Vendor Allowances: The company receives cash consider-
ation from vendors through a variety of programs and arrange-
ments, including cooperative advertising and vendor
allowances. The majority of vendor allowances are recognized
as a reduction to cost of sales, buying and warehousing. Cash
consideration received as part of cooperative advertising pro-
grams that represents a reimbursement of specific, incremental,
identifiable direct costs incurred by the company to advertise
the vendors’ products is reported as a reduction to advertising
expense in the period in which the advertising occurs.

(E) Interest Income: Interest income recorded as a reduction
to selling, general and administrative expenses was $6.6 mil-
lion for the year ended February 29, 2004, $7.9 million for
the year ended February 28, 2003, and $15.8 million for the
year ended February 28, 2002.

(F) Store Opening and Location Closing Expenses: Non-capital
expenditures relating to store openings, including organization
and pre-opening costs, are expensed as incurred. When the
company commits to a plan to close or relocate a store, esti-
mates of the depreciable lives of fixtures, equipment and lease-
hold improvements to be abandoned are revised to reflect the
use of the assets over their shortened useful lives. At a loca-
tion’s cease-use date, estimated unrecoverable costs are charged
to selling, general and administrative expenses. Such costs
include the estimated loss on the sale of land and building
and a provision for the present value of future lease obliga-
tions, less contractual or estimated sublease income.

(G) Advertising Expenses: Advertising costs are expensed as
incurred and are included in selling, general and administrative
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.
Advertising expense was $319.6 million in fiscal 2004, $345.1
million in fiscal 2003 and $362.0 million in fiscal 2002.

(H) Stock-Based Compensation: Prior to December 1, 2003,
the company accounted for stock-based compensation using
the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations.
Accordingly, no stock-based compensation cost for stock
options was reflected in previously reported results, as all
options granted had an exercise price equal to the market
value of the underlying common stock on the grant date.
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Effective December 1, 2003, the company adopted 
the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
compensation in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.” The adoption of this standard was applied
using the retroactive restatement method as defined in SFAS
No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure.” All periods have been retroactively
restated to reflect the compensation cost that would have been
recognized had the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123
been applied to all awards granted to employees in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 1994. The table below sets
forth the effect of retroactive restatement of prior periods.

Years Ended February 28
(Amounts in thousands except per share data) 2003 2002

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations:

Previously reported ............................................ $41,565 $127,993

Restated for bankcard operation sale.................. $15,892 $ 85,037

Restated for bankcard operation sale and 
adoption of SFAS No. 123 .......................... $ (5,309) $ 67,556

Net earnings (loss) per share from 
continuing operations:

Basic:

Previously reported ...................................... $ 0.20 $ 0.62

Restated for bankcard operation sale............ $ 0.08 $ 0.41

Restated for bankcard operation sale and 
adoption of SFAS No. 123 .................... $ (0.03) $ 0.33

Diluted:

Previously reported ...................................... $ 0.20 $ 0.62

Restated for bankcard operation sale............ $ 0.08 $ 0.41

Restated for bankcard operation sale and 
adoption of SFAS No. 123 .................... $ (0.03) $ 0.33

(I) Net Earnings Per Share: Basic net earnings per share
from continuing operations is computed by dividing net earn-
ings from continuing operations by the weighted average
number of shares of Circuit City common stock outstanding.
Diluted net earnings per share from continuing operations is
computed by dividing net earnings from continuing opera-
tions by the sum of the weighted average number of shares of
Circuit City common stock outstanding and the potentially
dilutive Circuit City common stock.

Basic net earnings per share from discontinued operations
attributed to Circuit City common stock is computed by divid-
ing net earnings from discontinued operations attributed to
Circuit City common stock by the weighted average number of
shares of Circuit City common stock outstanding. Diluted net
earnings per share from discontinued operations attributed to
Circuit City common stock is computed by dividing net earn-
ings from discontinued operations attributed to Circuit City
common stock by the sum of the weighted average number of
shares of Circuit City common stock outstanding and the
potentially dilutive Circuit City common stock.

Basic net earnings per share from discontinued operations
attributed to CarMax Group common stock is computed by
dividing net earnings from discontinued operations attributed to
CarMax Group common stock by the weighted average number

of shares of CarMax Group common stock outstanding. Diluted
net earnings per share from discontinued operations attributed
to CarMax Group common stock is computed by dividing net
earnings from discontinued operations attributed to CarMax
Group common stock by the sum of the weighted average num-
ber of shares of CarMax Group common stock outstanding and
the potentially dilutive CarMax Group common stock. For fiscal
2003, the shares of CarMax Group common stock have been
weighted over the months that CarMax was a wholly owned
subsidiary of the company. CarMax became an independent,
separately traded public company on October 1, 2002.

(J) Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The carrying value
of the company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receiv-
able, accounts payable and long-term debt approximates fair
value. Retained interests in securitized receivables and deriva-
tive financial instruments are recorded on the consolidated
balance sheets at fair value.

(K) Cash and Cash Equivalents: Investments in highly liquid
debt securities with original maturities of three months or less
totaled $699.6 million at February 29, 2004, and $844.7 mil-
lion at February 28, 2003, and are included in cash and cash
equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets. Cash and cash
equivalents held by the company’s regulated subsidiaries and
not available for general corporate purposes were $61.6 million
at February 29, 2004, and $48.8 million at February 28, 2003.

(L) Securitizations: The company enters into securitization
transactions to finance private-label credit card receivables
originated by its finance operation. These transactions are
accounted for as sales in accordance with SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishment of Liabilities.” At February 29, 2004,
retained interests in securitized receivables were carried at fair
value as determined by the estimated net proceeds from the
planned sale of the company’s private-label finance operation.
At February 28, 2003, retained interests in securitized receiv-
ables were carried at fair value as determined by the present
value of expected future cash flows. The changes in fair value
of retained interests are included in finance income on the
consolidated statements of operations. See Note 6 for addi-
tional discussion of securitizations.

(M) Derivative Financial Instruments: The company enters
into interest rate cap agreements in connection with its
private-label receivable securitization transactions. The com-
pany recognizes all derivative instruments as either assets or
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. Fair
value estimates of the company’s derivative instruments are
based on quoted market prices.

(N) Merchandise Inventory: Inventory is comprised of fin-
ished goods held for sale and is stated at the lower of cost or
market. Cost is determined by the average cost method. The
company estimates the realizable value of inventory based on
assumptions about forecasted consumer demand, market con-
ditions and obsolescence expectations. If the estimated realiz-
able value is less than cost, the inventory value is reduced to
its estimated realizable value. If estimates regarding consumer
demand and market conditions are inaccurate or unexpected
changes in technology affect demand, the company could be
exposed to losses in excess of amounts recorded.
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(O) Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the
straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful lives.
Property held under capital lease is stated at the lower of the
present value of the future minimum lease payments at the
inception of the lease or market value and is amortized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term or the estimated useful
life of the asset, whichever is shorter.

(P) Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets: The com-
pany reviews long-lived assets for impairment when circum-
stances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Impairment is recognized when the sum of undis-
counted estimated future cash flows expected to result from
the use of the asset is less than the asset’s carrying value. The
impairment loss recognized represents the difference between
the asset’s carrying value and fair value.

(Q) Deferred Income Taxes: Deferred income taxes reflect
the impact of temporary differences between the amounts of
assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting pur-
poses and the amounts recognized for income tax purposes,
measured by applying currently enacted tax laws. The com-
pany recognizes a deferred tax asset if it is more likely than
not that a benefit will be realized.

(R) Accrued Straight-Line Rent: Most of the company’s
leases include fixed-dollar rental commitments, with many
containing rent escalations based on the lesser of a fixed
amount or a multiple of the change in the Consumer Price
Index. In accordance with SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for
Leases,” as amended by SFAS No. 29, “Determining
Contingent Rentals,” and FASB Technical Bulletin 85-3,
“Accounting for Operating Leases with Scheduled Rent
Increases,” the company recognizes rental expense for mini-
mum lease payments from operating leases on a straight-line
basis. Accrued straight-line rent is presented separately on 
the consolidated balance sheets and was $98.5 million at
February 29, 2004, and $97.4 million at February 28, 2003.

(S) Risks and Uncertainties: The company is a leading
national retailer of brand-name consumer electronics, personal
computers and entertainment software. The diversity of the
company’s products, customers, suppliers and geographic
operations reduces the risk that a severe impact will occur in
the near term as a result of changes in its customer base, com-
petition, sources of supply or markets.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Cash flows related to discontinued operations have been segre-
gated on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

(A) Bankcard Operation: On November 18, 2003, the
company completed the sale of its bankcard finance operation to
FleetBoston Financial. Bankcard results are presented as results
from discontinued operations. The sale agreement includes a
transition services agreement under which the company’s finance
operation will continue to service the bankcard accounts until
final conversion to FleetBoston’s system, which is expected to
occur in the company’s first fiscal quarter ending May 31, 2004.
FleetBoston is reimbursing the company for operating costs

incurred during the transition period. Severance costs are being
incurred ratably from the time at which these costs are eligible
for accrual through the final conversion date.

For fiscal 2004, the after-tax loss from the discontinued
bankcard operation totaled $90.0 million, compared with
after-tax earnings of $25.6 million for fiscal 2003 and $42.9
million for fiscal 2002. These results include bankcard-related
income generated by a subsidiary that provides reinsurance
and indemnification related to credit protection products sold
by the finance operation.

The assets and liabilities of the discontinued bankcard
operation reflected on the consolidated balance sheets at
February 29, 2004, and February 28, 2003, were comprised
of the following:

At February 29 or 28
(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003

Accounts receivable.............................................................. $ — $ 74.7

Retained interests in securitized receivables.......................... — 321.1

Total assets of discontinued bankcard operation .................. $ — $395.8

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities...................... $3.1 $ —

Deferred income taxes ......................................................... — 60.2

Total liabilities of discontinued bankcard operation............. $3.1 $ 60.2

(B) CarMax: On September 10, 2002, the company’s share-
holders approved the separation of the CarMax Group from
Circuit City Stores, Inc. and the company’s board of directors
authorized the redemption of the company’s CarMax Group
common stock and the distribution of CarMax, Inc. common
stock to effect the separation. On October 1, 2002, the sepa-
ration was effective and CarMax, Inc. became an independ-
ent, separately traded public company. Each outstanding share
of CarMax Group common stock was redeemed in exchange
for one share of CarMax, Inc. common stock. In addition,
each holder of Circuit City Group common stock received as
a tax-free distribution 0.313879 of a share of CarMax, Inc.
common stock for each share of Circuit City Group common
stock owned as of September 16, 2002, the record date for the
distribution. CarMax results are presented as results from dis-
continued operations. The company recorded no gain or loss
as a result of the separation.

With the separation, CarMax paid a special dividend of
$28.4 million to Circuit City Stores, Inc. in recognition of the
company’s continuing contingent liability on leases related to 23
CarMax locations. At February 29, 2004, the future minimum
fixed lease obligations on these 23 leases totaled $451.9 million.

In connection with the separation, the company and
CarMax entered into a transition services agreement, under
which the company provides CarMax services that currently
include administrative services, special technical services, ben-
efits administration, computer center support and telecommu-
nication services, with initial terms ranging from six to 24
months and varying renewal options. Under the agreement,
CarMax pays the company the allocable portion of all direct
and indirect costs of providing these services plus 10 percent.
Including the 10 percent markup, the company billed
CarMax $7.0 million during fiscal 2004 and $6.7 million
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during fiscal 2003 for services provided under the agreement.
The company records amounts related to the 10 percent
markup in net sales and operating revenues on the consoli-
dated statements of operations. A tax allocation agreement,
which generally provides that pre-separation taxes attributable
to the business of each party will be borne solely by that party,
also was executed upon the separation.

The discontinued CarMax operations had no impact on
the net earnings of the company for fiscal 2004. Net earnings
from the discontinued CarMax operations were $62.0 million
for fiscal 2003, representing CarMax results for the seven
months prior to the separation date. Net earnings from the
discontinued CarMax operations were $89.5 million for fiscal
2002. CarMax results have been restated to reflect the adop-
tion of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148. Prior to
the separation date, CarMax earnings were allocated to the
company’s Circuit City Group and CarMax Group common
stocks. Circuit City Group earnings included earnings attrib-
uted to the CarMax Group shares reserved for the Circuit
City Group or for issuance to Circuit City Group sharehold-
ers. The CarMax Group earnings reflected the remainder of
the earnings of the CarMax business.

(C) Divx: On June 16, 1999, Digital Video Express
announced that it would cease marketing the Divx home
video system and discontinue operations. Divx results are pre-
sented as results from discontinued operations. The provision
for commitments under licensing agreements was reduced
$2.3 million in fiscal 2004, reducing accrued expenses and
other current liabilities related to the former Divx operations
to $5.6 million on the consolidated balance sheet at February
29, 2004. This reduction benefited the fiscal 2004 net loss
from discontinued operations by $1.5 million. Payments of
$10.5 million were made during fiscal 2003, reducing accrued
expenses and other current liabilities related to the former
Divx operations to $8.0 million on the consolidated balance
sheet at February 28, 2003. The discontinued Divx operations
had no impact on the net earnings of the company for fiscal
2003 or fiscal 2002.

FINANCE INCOME

Components of pretax finance income were as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Securitization income.......................................... $120.9 $107.3 $118.0

Payroll and fringe benefit expenses...................... 29.5 30.8 30.4

Other direct expenses.......................................... 58.7 49.2 47.4

Finance income................................................... $ 32.7 $ 27.3 $ 40.2

Securitization income primarily is comprised of the gain
on the sale of receivables generated by the company’s private-
label finance operation, income from the retained interests in
the credit card receivables and income related to servicing the
receivables, as well as the impact of increases or decreases in
the fair value of the retained interests. Finance income does
not include any allocation of indirect costs or income. The
company presents information on the performance of its

finance operation on a direct basis to avoid making arbitrary
decisions regarding the periodic indirect benefits or costs that
could be attributed to this operation. Examples of indirect
costs not included are corporate expenses such as human
resources, administrative services, marketing, information sys-
tems, accounting, legal, treasury and executive payroll, as well
as retail store expenses.

NET (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Reconciliations of the numerator and denominator of basic
and diluted net (loss) earnings per share calculations are pre-
sented below.

(Amounts in thousands Years Ended February 29 or 28
except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Circuit City:

Weighted average common shares ................ 205,865 207,217 205,501

Dilutive potential common shares:

Options.................................................. — — 521

Restricted stock ...................................... — — 821

Weighted average common shares and 
dilutive potential common shares ........... 205,865 207,217 206,843

Net (loss) earnings available to 
common shareholders from:

Continuing operations ........................... $ (787) $ (5,309) $ 67,556

Discontinued operations ........................ $(88,482) $65,264 $104,853

Basic net (loss) earnings per share from:

Continuing operations ........................... $ — $ (0.03) $ 0.33

Discontinued operations ........................ (0.43) 0.31 0.51

$ (0.43) $ 0.29 $ 0.84

Diluted net (loss) earnings per share from:

Continuing operations ........................... $ — $ (0.03) $ 0.33

Discontinued operations ........................ (0.43) 0.31 0.51

$ (0.43) $ 0.29 $ 0.83

CarMax Group:

Weighted average common shares ................ — 37,023 32,140

Dilutive potential common shares:

Options.................................................. — 1,613 1,824

Restricted stock ...................................... — 10 33

Weighted average common shares and 
dilutive potential common shares ........... — 38,646 33,997

Net earnings available to 
common shareholders............................. $ — $22,308 $ 27,521

Basic net earnings per share.................... $ — $ 0.60 $ 0.86

Diluted net earnings per share................ $ — $ 0.58 $ 0.81

For fiscal 2003, the shares of CarMax Group common stock
were weighted over the months during which CarMax was a
wholly owned subsidiary of Circuit City Stores, Inc.

For fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, no options or restricted
stock were included in the calculation of Circuit City’s diluted
net loss per share because the company reported a loss from
continuing operations. Options to purchase 17.8 million shares
of Circuit City common stock with exercise prices ranging from

CIRCUIT CITY STORES 2004 33

4

5



$5.61 to $27.21 and restricted stock amounting to 1.6 million
shares were outstanding at February 29, 2004. Options to pur-
chase 17.6 million shares of Circuit City common stock with
exercise prices ranging from $6.33 to $27.21 and restricted
stock amounting to 2.8 million shares were outstanding at
February 28, 2003. For fiscal 2002, certain options were out-
standing and not included in the calculation of diluted net
earnings per share because the options’ exercise prices were
greater than the average market price of the common shares.
Options to purchase 5.3 million shares of Circuit City common
stock with exercise prices ranging from $26.15 to $43.03 per
share were outstanding and not included in the calculation at
the end of fiscal 2002.

Options to purchase 1.0 million shares of CarMax Group
common stock at prices ranging from $20.00 to $26.83 per
share were outstanding at the separation date and not included
in the calculation of diluted net earnings per share at the end of
fiscal 2003. All 3.6 million options to purchase shares of
CarMax Group common stock were included in the calculation
at the end of fiscal 2002.

In a public offering completed during fiscal 2002, Circuit
City Stores, Inc. sold 9.5 million CarMax Group shares that
previously had been reserved for the Circuit City Group.
With the impact of the offering, 64.0 percent of the CarMax
Group’s fiscal 2003 earnings prior to the separation date were
attributed to Circuit City. In fiscal 2002, 64.1 percent of the
CarMax Group’s earnings were attributed to Circuit City.

SECURITIZATIONS

The company enters into securitization transactions to finance
its private-label and co-branded Visa credit card receivables,
collectively referred to as private-label receivables, originated
by its finance operation. The company uses a special purpose
subsidiary to facilitate these securitization transactions in
accordance with the isolation provisions of SFAS No. 140.
The finance operation sells the private-label receivables to the
special purpose subsidiary, which, in turn, transfers these
receivables to a securitization master trust. At the time of
these sales, the company recognizes gains or losses as a com-
ponent of finance income. See Note 4 for discussion of
finance income. On January 20, 2004, the company
announced plans to sell its private-label finance operation to
Bank One Corporation. The sale is expected to close in the
second calendar quarter of 2004.

The company funded its Mastercard and non-co-branded
Visa credit card receivables, collectively referred to as bankcard
receivables, through a similar master trust program prior to
the sale of its bankcard operation to FleetBoston Financial in
November 2003. See Note 3 for discussion of the discontin-
ued bankcard operation.

The master trust periodically issues securities backed by the
private-label receivables. The master trust has issued multiple
series of term asset-backed securities each having a fixed initial
principal amount and multiple series of variable funding asset-
backed securities each having a variable principal amount.
Investors in the variable funding asset-backed securities are
generally entitled to receive monthly interest payments and

have committed to acquire additional variable funding inter-
ests up to a stated amount until a stated commitment termi-
nation date. The securitization agreements do not provide for
recourse to the company for credit losses on the securitized
receivables. The private-label finance operation continues to
service the securitized receivables for a fee.

Circuit City retains the rights to receive the excess of the
finance charges and fees generated by the securitized private-
label receivables over the interest paid to investors, servicing
costs and credit losses. The company also holds various subor-
dinated asset-backed securities that serve as credit enhancement
for the asset-backed securities held by third-party investors.

The private-label securitization agreements require that the
aggregate outstanding principal balance of the securitized
receivables exceeds a specified amount and that the yield on
the securitized receivables exceeds specified rates. In addition,
the variable funding securitization agreements require that the
securitized receivables meet specified performance levels relat-
ing to delinquency rates, default rates and principal payment
rates. If these performance levels are not met, or if certain
other events occur, it would constitute an early amortization
event, in which case the principal payment dates for the term
series would be accelerated, the variable funding commitments
would terminate and the variable funding investors would
begin to receive monthly principal payments until paid in full.
The securitized receivables were in compliance with these per-
formance levels at February 29, 2004, and February 28, 2003.

The finance operation receives annual servicing fees
approximating 2 percent of the outstanding principal balance
of the securitized receivables. The servicing fees specified in
the securitization agreements adequately compensate the
finance operation for servicing the securitized receivables.
Accordingly, no servicing asset or liability has been recorded.

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Dollar amounts in millions) 2004 2003

Total principal amount of credit 
card receivables managed .................................. $1,878.1 $1,636.1

Principal amount of receivables securitized ............. $1,812.1 $1,592.2

Principal amount of receivables held for sale........... $ 66.0 $ 43.9

Unused capacity of the private-label 
variable funding program ................................. $ 42.4 $ 29.5

Aggregate receivables 31 days or more delinquent .... $ 107.6 $ 72.1

Aggregate receivables 31 days or more delinquent
as a percent of total principal amount of 
credit card receivables managed ........................ 5.7% 4.4%

The principal amount of defaults net of recoveries was
$109.8 million for fiscal 2004, $73.1 million for fiscal 2003
and $65.1 million for fiscal 2002. Serviced private-label receiv-
ables averaged $1.66 billion for the year ended February 29,
2004, $1.39 billion for the year ended February 28, 2003,
and $1.10 billion for the year ended February 28, 2002. The
principal amount of defaults net of recoveries as an annualized
percent of average serviced receivables was 6.6 percent for the
year ended February 29, 2004, 5.3 percent for the year ended
February 28, 2003, and 5.9 percent for the year ended
February 28, 2002.
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During fiscal 2004, the company replaced a maturing term
securitization with a variable funding program and completed
a $500 million private-label credit card receivable securitization
transaction to replace a maturing term securitization. Also dur-
ing fiscal 2004, the company increased the capacity of its pri-
vate-label variable funding program by $484 million and
extended the commitment termination date for this program
to June 30, 2004. The company completed a $300 million pri-
vate-label credit card receivable securitization transaction dur-
ing fiscal 2003 to replace a maturing term securitization.

The following table summarizes certain cash flows received
from and paid to the securitization trusts.

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Proceeds from new securitizations ................ $ 500.6 $ 901.0 $ 454.8

Proceeds from collections reinvested in 
previous credit card securitizations.......... $1,785.9 $1,157.3 $1,124.6

Servicing fees received .................................. $ 30.3 $ 24.7 $ 20.9

Other cash flows received on 
retained interests* ................................... $ 131.9 $ 73.7 $ 88.0

*This amount represents cash flows received from retained interests other than servicing fees.

In accordance with the allocated carrying value method as
prescribed by SFAS No. 140, gains on sales of receivables sold
to the securitization trusts were $47.7 million for fiscal 2004,
$67.8 million for fiscal 2003 and $64.2 million for fiscal 2002.

At February 29, 2004, the fair value of the retained inter-
ests in securitized private-label receivables was $425.7 million
and was determined based on the estimated net proceeds from
the planned sale of the company’s private-label finance opera-
tion. At February 28, 2003, the fair value of the retained
interests in securitized private-label receivables was $239.1
million and was determined based on the present value of
expected future cash flows.

FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

The company enters into interest rate cap agreements in con-
nection with its private-label receivable securitization transac-
tions. During fiscal 2004, the company did not purchase or
sell any interest rate caps. The total notional amount of interest
rate caps outstanding was $280.5 million at February 29,
2004, and $512.9 million at February 28, 2003. Interest rate
caps purchased by the company are included in net accounts
receivable on the consolidated balance sheets and had a fair
value of $2.7 million at February 29, 2004, and $4.2 million
at February 28, 2003. Interest rate caps written by the com-
pany are included in accounts payable on the consolidated bal-
ance sheets and had a fair value of $2.7 million at February 29,
2004, and $4.2 million at February 28, 2003. Fair value is
determined from quoted market prices.

The market and credit risks associated with the company’s
interest rate caps are similar to those relating to other types of
financial instruments. Market risk is the exposure created by
potential fluctuations in interest rates and is directly related to
the product type, agreement terms and transaction volume.
The company has entered into offsetting interest rate cap

positions and, therefore, does not anticipate significant market
risk arising from its interest rate caps. Credit risk is the expo-
sure to nonperformance of another party to an agreement.
The company mitigates credit risk by dealing with highly
rated bank counterparties.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, stated at cost, is summarized as follows:

At February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003

Land ....................................................................... $ 14,974 $ 13,320

Buildings (20 to 25 years) ....................................... 192,941 183,554

Land held for sale ................................................... 940 2,759

Construction in progress......................................... 15,276 23,092

Furniture, fixtures and equipment (3 to 8 years)..... 815,127 827,504

Leasehold improvements (10 to 15 years) ............... 563,629 538,176

Capital leases, primarily buildings (20 years) .......... 3,712 12,406

1,606,599 1,600,811

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .... 1,020,696 951,218

Property and equipment, net .................................. $ 585,903 $ 649,593

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” requires the revision of depre-
ciation estimates when an entity commits to a plan to aban-
don a long-lived asset before the end of its previously
estimated useful life. For fiscal 2004, accumulated deprecia-
tion and amortization includes $1.5 million of accelerated
depreciation for assets expected to be disposed in fiscal 2005.
For fiscal 2003, accumulated depreciation and amortization
includes $6.3 million of accelerated depreciation for assets
then expected to be disposed in fiscal 2004. Also included in
fiscal 2003 accumulated depreciation and amortization is $4.3
million related to additional depreciation expense incurred
due to a change in the estimate of the depreciable lives for
certain fixtures from 8 years to 5 years.

DEBT

Long-term debt is summarized as follows:

At February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003

Industrial Development Revenue Bonds due 
through 2006 at various prime-based rates 
of interest ranging from 2.6% to 3.3% in 
fiscal 2004 (2.8% to 3.7% in fiscal 2003)................... $ 725 $ 1,576

Obligations under capital leases [NOTE 11] ......................... 10,481 11,088

Other ................................................................................ 12,600 —

Total long-term debt ......................................................... 23,806 12,664

Less current installments ................................................... 1,115 1,410

Long-term debt, excluding current installments................ $22,691 $11,254

On June 27, 2003, the company entered into a $500 mil-
lion, four-year revolving credit facility secured by inventory
and certain accounts receivable. This facility will be used to
support letters of credit and for short-term borrowing needs.

CIRCUIT CITY STORES 2004 35

7

8

9



Loans primarily will bear interest at a spread over LIBOR or
at prime. The facility is scheduled to mature in June 2007
and provides for an option to extend the facility by one year.
The maximum credit extensions, including loans and out-
standing letters of credit, permitted under the credit facility
on any date are determined by calculating a borrowing base
that is a percentage of the company’s eligible inventory and
accounts receivable as of the date of the credit extension. If
the remaining borrowing availability under the facility falls
below $100 million, cash dividends and stock repurchases are
limited to an aggregate of $75 million in any fiscal year. In
addition, if the remaining borrowing availability under the
facility falls below $50 million for five consecutive business
days, all proceeds from the sale of inventory must be applied
on a daily basis to payment of amounts owed under the facil-
ity. The facility has representations and warranties, covenants
and events of default that are customary for this type of
credit facility. This credit facility replaced $210 million in
committed seasonal lines, which were terminated on the
same date. At February 29, 2004, the company had no short-
term borrowings on this facility. At February 29, 2004, out-
standing letters of credit related to this facility were $37.3
million, leaving $462.7 million available for borrowing.

A $100 million outstanding term loan matured in July
2002 and was repaid using existing working capital. At the
payment date, $22.2 million had been allocated to Circuit
City and is included in payments on long-term debt on the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year ended
February 28, 2003. The remaining balance had been allocated
to CarMax and is included in cash used in discontinued oper-
ations on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fis-
cal year ended February 28, 2003.

The Industrial Development Revenue Bonds are collateral-
ized by land, buildings and equipment with an aggregate car-
rying value of $1.8 million at February 29, 2004, and $2.3
million at February 28, 2003. In connection with these
bonds, the company must meet financial covenants relating to
minimum tangible net worth, current ratio and minimum
working capital. The company was in compliance with all
such covenants at February 29, 2004, and February 28, 2003.

Other debt represents the liability assumed from a variable
interest entity with an aggregate principal amount totaling
$12.6 million. The company leased a corporate office building
under a synthetic operating lease arrangement with a variable
interest entity. Effective September 1, 2003, the company
adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities,” that requires it to report the build-
ing and related debt on its consolidated balance sheet.
Payments of interest are due every six months and are prima-
rily at a rate of 8.2 percent. Repayment of principal is due on
the maturity date of August 10, 2005. The building serves as
collateral for this debt.

The scheduled aggregate annual principal payments on
long-term obligations for the next five fiscal years are as
follows: 2005 — $1.1 million; 2006 — $13.7 million; 
2007 — $1.0 million; 2008 — $1.0 million; and 2009 —
$1.2 million.

For fiscal 2003, short-term debt was funded through com-
mitted lines of credit and informal credit arrangements. Other
information regarding short-term debt financing is as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2004 2003

Average short-term financing outstanding.................. $— $ 1,466

Maximum short-term financing outstanding ............. $— $60,100

Weighted average interest rate on outstanding 
short-term debt .................................................... —% 2.9%

INCOME TAXES

Total income taxes on (loss) earnings were allocated as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Income tax (benefit) provision from 
continuing operations ............................ $ (453) $ (181) $ 39,088

Income tax (benefit) provision from 
discontinued operations ......................... (49,760) 55,034 84,594

Total income tax (benefit) provision............. $(50,213) $54,853 $123,682

The company files a consolidated federal income tax
return. The components of the income tax (benefit) provision
on (loss) earnings from continuing operations were as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Current:

Federal .................................................... $ 33,923 $ 16,549 $11,041

State ........................................................ 1,242 1,934 8,489

35,165 18,483 19,530

Deferred:

Federal .................................................... (34,398) (18,240) 18,971

State ........................................................ (1,220) (424) 587

(35,618) (18,664) 19,558

Income tax (benefit) provision ...................... $ (453) $ (181) $39,088

The effective income tax rate applicable to results from
continuing operations differed from the federal statutory
income tax rate as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
2004 2003 2002

Federal statutory income tax rate ....................... 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State and local income taxes,
net of federal benefit .................................... (1.1) (17.9) 5.5

Non-deductible meals and entertainment .......... (28.5) (15.5) 2.2

Non-deductible contributions............................ (3.3) (0.8) 0.2

Resolution of prior year taxes............................. 10.3 — —

Change in value of deferred tax asset (liability) ... 2.8 (0.9) (5.1)

Federal and state tax credits ............................... 21.3 3.4 —

Other................................................................. — — (1.1)

Effective income tax rate.................................... 36.5% 3.3% 36.7%
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In accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes,” the tax effects of temporary differences that
give rise to a significant portion of the deferred tax assets and
liabilities from continuing operations were as follows:

At February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:

Accrued liabilities .................................................. $ 63,435 $ 41,266

Stock-based compensation expense........................ 38,062 44,373

Accrued straight-line rent ...................................... 34,489 34,285

Other..................................................................... 2,031 2,694

Total gross deferred tax assets........................... 138,017 122,618

Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred revenue ................................................... 53,018 47,729

Depreciation and amortization .............................. 21,369 36,168

Securitized receivables............................................ 22,994 25,529

Merchandise inventory .......................................... 16,493 14,173

Prepaid expenses .................................................... 15,419 23,361

Other..................................................................... — 2,552

Total gross deferred tax liabilities ..................... 129,293 149,512

Net deferred tax asset (liability) ................................... $ 8,724 $ (26,894)

Based on the company’s historical and current pretax earn-
ings, management believes the amount of gross deferred tax
assets will more likely than not be realized through future tax-
able income; therefore, no valuation allowance is necessary.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The company conducts a substantial portion of its business in
leased premises. The company’s lease obligations are based
upon contractual minimum rates.

Rental expense and sublease income for all operating leases
are summarized as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Minimum rentals ..................................... $330,026 $342,385 $322,891

Rentals based on sales volume .................. 71 177 292

Sublease income ....................................... (22,149) (18,819) (17,842)

Net rental expense.................................... $307,948 $323,743 $305,341

Most of the company’s leases include fixed-dollar rental
commitments, with many containing rent escalations based
on the lesser of a fixed amount or a multiple of the change in
the Consumer Price Index. Several store leases include rental
commitments based on a percentage of sales volumes in excess
of defined amounts. Most leases provide that the company
pay taxes, maintenance, insurance and operating expenses
applicable to the premises.

The initial term of most real property leases will expire
within the next 20 years; however, most of the leases have
options providing for additional lease terms of five to 25 years
at terms similar to the initial terms.

Future minimum fixed lease obligations, excluding taxes,
insurance and other costs payable directly by the company, as
of February 29, 2004, were:

Operating Operating
(Amounts in thousands) Capital Lease Sublease
Fiscal Leases Commitments Income

2005 ................................................... $ 1,798 $ 351,064 $(48,974)

2006 ................................................... 1,807 353,812 (46,805)

2007 ................................................... 1,853 349,154 (42,725)

2008 ................................................... 1,853 342,799 (40,678)

2009 ................................................... 1,907 331,512 (37,481)

After 2009 .......................................... 7,246 2,866,567 (348,156)

Total minimum lease payments........... 16,464 $4,594,908 $(564,819)

Less amounts representing interest ...... (5,983)

Present value of net minimum 
capital lease payments [NOTE 9] ..... $10,481

CarMax currently operates 23 of its sales locations pur-
suant to leases under which the company is the primary
obligor. In conjunction with the separation, the company
assigned each of these operating leases to CarMax. CarMax
paid a special dividend of $28.4 million to Circuit City
Stores, Inc. in recognition of the company’s continuing con-
tingent liability on the leases related to these CarMax loca-
tions. At February 29, 2004, the future minimum fixed lease
obligations on these 23 leases totaled $451.9 million.
Amounts presented within the above table reflect the com-
pany’s lease commitments on these leases and the correspon-
ding sublease income associated with these CarMax locations.

In fiscal 2004, the company did not enter into any 
sale-leaseback transactions. The company entered into sale-
leaseback transactions with unrelated third parties at an aggre-
gate selling price of $25.1 million in fiscal 2003 and $48.5
million in fiscal 2002. Gains or losses on sale-leaseback trans-
actions are deferred and amortized over the term of the leases.
The company does not have continuing involvement under
sale-leaseback transactions.

The liability for lease termination costs was $105.3 million
at February 29, 2004, and $74.3 million at February 28,
2003, and is included in other liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In the normal course of business, the company is involved in
various legal proceedings. Based upon the company’s evalua-
tion of the information presently available, management
believes that the ultimate resolution of any such proceedings
will not have a material adverse effect on the company’s finan-
cial position, liquidity or results of operations.
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CAPITAL STOCK

(A) Shareholder Rights Plan: In conjunction with the com-
pany’s Shareholder Rights Plan as amended and restated,
preferred stock purchase rights were distributed as a divi-
dend at the rate of one right for each share of common
stock. The rights are exercisable only upon the attainment
of, or the commencement of a tender offer to attain, a speci-
fied ownership interest in the company by a person or
group. When exercisable, each right would entitle the holder
to buy one eight-hundredth of a share of Cumulative
Participating Preferred Stock, Series E, $20 par value, at an
exercise price of $125 per share, subject to adjustment. A
total of 500,000 shares of such preferred stock, which have
preferential dividend and liquidation rights, have been desig-
nated. No such shares are outstanding. In the event that an
acquiring person or group acquires 15 percent or more of
the company’s common stock, except pursuant to a cash ten-
der offer for all outstanding shares determined to be fair by
the board of directors, or engages in certain transactions
with the company after the rights become exercisable, each
right would be converted into a right to purchase, for half
the current market price at that time, shares of stock valued
at two times the exercise price. In February 2004, the com-
pany’s board of directors voted to terminate the company’s
shareholder rights plan effective May 1, 2005.

(B) Preferred Stock: The company has 1.0 million shares of
undesignated preferred stock authorized of which no shares
are outstanding.

(C) Common Stock Repurchased: In January 2003, the com-
pany’s board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to
$200 million of the company’s common stock. As of February
29, 2004, the company had repurchased and retired approxi-
mately 9.3 million shares of common stock at a cost of $84.6
million, which includes commission fees. Based on the market
value of the common stock at February 29, 2004, the remain-
ing $115.6 million authorized would allow the company to
repurchase up to approximately 5 percent of the 203.9 million
shares then outstanding. The company did not repurchase any
shares during fiscal 2003.

STOCK-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS

(A) Stock Incentive Plans: Under the company’s stock incen-
tive plans, nonqualified stock options and other equity-based
awards may be granted to management, key employees and
outside directors to purchase shares of common stock. The
exercise price for nonqualified options is equal to, or greater
than, the market value at the date of grant. Options generally
are exercisable over a period of from one year to 10 years from
the date of grant. The company has authorized 44.1 million
shares of common stock to be issued as either options,
restricted stock or restricted stock units. At February 29,
2004, 11.6 million shares of common stock were available for
issuance of options, restricted stock or restricted stock units.
The number of shares available for granting at February 28,
2003, was 10.2 million shares of common stock.

In the CarMax separation, the company adjusted the exer-
cise price and the number of shares of each unexercised

option to purchase Circuit City Group common stock, other
than those options held by CarMax associates. In order to
reflect the distribution of the company’s interest in the
CarMax Group as a dividend to holders of Circuit City
Group common stock and to maintain both the intrinsic
value of the option and the ratio of exercise price to market
value, each option was adjusted by decreasing the exercise
price and increasing the number of shares covered by the
option. As a result of the separation, the number of shares
covered by options to purchase the company’s common stock
increased by 6.0 million shares. Pursuant to the company’s
stock incentive plans, the number of shares available for
issuance under the company’s stock plans were adjusted in
the same manner, increasing the number of shares available
by 3.4 million shares.

Also in the separation, each unexercised option to pur-
chase Circuit City Group common stock that was held by a
CarMax associate was converted into an option to purchase
CarMax, Inc. common stock, and the Circuit City option
was cancelled. The exercise price and number of shares cov-
ered by the option were adjusted to maintain both the
intrinsic value of the option and the ratio of exercise price to
market value per share. As a result of the separation, options
to purchase approximately 30,000 shares of company stock
were cancelled.

Also in the separation, each holder of Circuit City Group
restricted stock received as a tax-free distribution 0.313879 of
a share of CarMax, Inc. restricted stock for each outstanding
share of Circuit City Group restricted stock. These restricted
shares of CarMax, Inc. common stock are subject to the same
terms and conditions as are applicable to the restricted shares
of Circuit City common stock.

(B) Stock Options: Beginning December 1, 2003, the com-
pany adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, which requires that
the company value stock options issued based upon an option
pricing model and recognize this value as an expense over the
period in which the options vest. The company has elected to
recognize stock-based compensation expense using the retro-
active restatement method. Under this change in accounting
method, the company has restated its consolidated financial
statements to reflect stock-based compensation expense under
the fair value based accounting method for all options granted
in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1994.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed
for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that do
not have vesting restrictions and that are fully transferable.
Option valuation models require the company to make
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected future
volatility of the stock price, expected dividend yield, risk-free
interest rate and expected life of the option. Because the
stock options granted by the company have characteristics
that are significantly different from those of traded options,
and because changes in the subjective assumptions can mate-
rially affect the fair value estimate, the existing option valua-
tion models, including the Black-Scholes model, do not
necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value
of the company’s employee stock options.
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The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the
grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions.

Years Ended February 29 or 28
2004 2003 2002

Expected dividend yield...................................... 1.1% 0.3% 0.6%

Expected stock volatility ..................................... 76% 70% 62%

Risk-free interest rates......................................... 3% 5% 5%

Expected lives (in years)...................................... 5 5 5

Using these assumptions in the Black-Scholes model, the
weighted average fair value of options granted was $4 per
share in fiscal 2004, $13 per share in fiscal 2003 and $7 per
share in fiscal 2002.

Compensation expense from continuing operations arising
from stock option grants as determined using the Black-
Scholes fair value option model was $24.2 million in fiscal
2004, $30.8 million in fiscal 2003 and $25.2 million in fiscal
2002 and included in stock-based compensation expense on
the consolidated statements of operations. Prior periods have
been restated to reflect the compensation costs that would
have been recognized had the recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123 been applied to all options. As a result, transition
adjustments consisting of a $38.6 million decrease in retained
earnings and a $55.4 million increase in capital excess of par
value have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated
statements of stockholders’ equity as of February 28, 2001, to
reflect the effect on these accounts for periods from March 1,
1995, through February 28, 2001.

The company’s stock option activity is summarized in
Table 1. Table 2 summarizes information about stock options
outstanding as of February 29, 2004.

(C) Restricted Stock: Under the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan,
management and key employees are granted restricted stock
awards and restricted stock unit awards of common stock.
Restricted stock is granted in the name of the employee, who
has all the rights of a shareholder, subject to certain restrictions
and forfeitures. Restrictions on the stock awards generally
expire three years to seven years from the date of grant. In fis-
cal 2004, the company issued performance-based shares, which
are considered restricted stock awards. The vesting of these
shares is based on the company achieving operating profit mar-
gin targets for fiscal 2006. If the company’s performance
exceeds the targets, the employee is eligible to receive addi-
tional shares up to 100 percent of the reserved shares.

Total restricted stock awards of 2.5 million shares of com-
mon stock were granted to eligible employees in fiscal 2004.
Total restricted stock awards of 0.8 million shares were
granted to eligible employees in fiscal 2003. The market
value, at the grant date, of all restricted shares granted has
been recorded as unearned compensation and is a component
of stockholders’ equity. Unearned compensation is expensed
over the restriction periods and included in stock-based com-
pensation expense on the consolidated statements of opera-
tions. Unearned compensation expense was $11.4 million in
fiscal 2004, $20.0 million in fiscal 2003 and $15.6 million in
fiscal 2002. As of February 29, 2004, 2.8 million restricted
shares of common stock were outstanding.

In fiscal 2003, the company began issuing restricted stock
units. Restricted stock units are granted in the name of the
employee, who is entitled to receive dividends, but has no vot-
ing rights for any restricted stock units held. These restricted
stock units are redeemed for company stock once the deferral
restriction period has been satisfied. If these restricted stock
units are forfeited or cancelled, the shares reserved for the
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TABLE 1 2004 2003 2002

Weighted Average Weighted Average Weighted Average
(Shares in thousands) Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year ............................ 17,622 $15.44 11,991 $23.60 8,720 $28.59

Granted ................................................................... 4,426 6.43 1,520 21.30 4,423 12.80

Adjustments due to CarMax separation:

Granted ............................................................. — — 17,865 15.42 — —

Cancelled .......................................................... — — (11,911) 23.14 — —

Exercised ................................................................. (1,369) 9.15 (311) 13.06 (541) 15.45

Cancelled ................................................................ (2,850) 11.54 (1,532) 25.60 (611) 23.96

Outstanding at end of year...................................... 17,829 $14.31 17,622 $15.44 11,991 $23.60

Options exercisable at end of year ........................... 10,351 $17.36 9,092 $16.97 4,346 $25.33

TABLE 2 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
(Shares in thousands) Number Remaining Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

$ 5.61 to 7.83 ............................................ 3,704 7.8 $ 6.42 134 $ 7.26

8.30 to 9.68 ............................................ 4,296 4.9 8.39 2,394 8.36

9.83 to 12.29 ............................................ 1,409 1.9 10.67 1,260 10.69

12.82 to 19.15 ............................................ 2,536 4.3 14.43 1,571 14.38

19.29 to 27.21 ............................................ 5,884 3.9 24.41 4,992 24.57

Total............................................................... 17,829 4.9 $14.31 10,351 $17.36



restricted stock units are available for granting. Total restricted
stock units of 0.1 million were granted to eligible employees in
fiscal 2004. Total restricted stock units of 0.5 million were
granted to eligible employees in fiscal 2003. The cost of grants,
as determined by the market prices of the common stock at the
grant dates, are recognized over the vesting period, generally
three years, and are included in stock-based compensation
expense on the consolidated statements of operations. Com-
pensation expense related to restricted stock units was $2.0
million in fiscal 2004 and $0.8 million in fiscal 2003.

(D) Employee Stock Purchase Plan: The company has an
employee stock purchase plan for all employees meeting certain
eligibility criteria. Under the plan, eligible employees may, sub-
ject to certain limitations, purchase shares of common stock.
The company matches $0.15 for each $1.00 contributed by
employees. Purchases are limited to 10 percent of an employee’s
eligible compensation, up to a maximum of $7,500 per year.
The company has authorized 18.5 million shares of common
stock for purchase under the plan. At February 29, 2004, a total
of 2.5 million shares remained available under the plan. During
fiscal 2004, 1.0 million shares of common stock were issued to
or purchased on the open market on behalf of employees (1.2
million shares in fiscal 2003 and 0.9 million shares in fiscal
2002). The average price per share of common stock purchased
under the plan was $9.31 in fiscal 2004, $13.32 in fiscal 2003
and $17.59 in fiscal 2002. The company match totaled $1.1
million in fiscal 2004, $1.6 million in fiscal 2003 and $1.9 mil-
lion in fiscal 2002 and is included in stock-based compensation
expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

(E) 401(k) Plan: The company sponsors a 401(k) plan for all
employees meeting certain eligibility criteria. Under the plan, eli-
gible employees can contribute up to 40 percent of their salaries
up to the annual limit as designated by the Internal Revenue
Service. The company matches $0.25 for each $1.00 contributed
by employees up to 5 percent of the employee’s salary. The com-
pany’s expense for this plan was $2.7 million in fiscal 2004, $3.6
million in fiscal 2003 and $3.5 million in fiscal 2002 and is
included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statements of operations.

PENSION PLANS

The company has a noncontributory defined benefit pension
plan covering the majority of full-time employees who are at
least 21 years of age and have completed one year of service. 
The cost of the program is being funded currently. Plan benefits
generally are based on years of service and average compensa-
tion. The company also has an unfunded nonqualified benefit
restoration plan.

The company uses the last day of its fiscal year as a meas-
urement date for determining pension plan assets and obliga-
tions. The change in projected benefit obligation, change in
plan assets and reconciliation of funded status for the plans
were as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year... $203,631 $185,524

Service cost........................................................... 15,873 14,895

Interest cost .......................................................... 13,263 13,384

Plan amendments................................................. — 260

Actuarial loss or (gain) (a) ...................................... 36,538 (377)

Benefits paid ........................................................ (6,091) (5,176)

Curtailments ........................................................ — (4,879)

Participant transfers to CarMax............................ (1,308) —

Projected benefit obligation at end of year ........... $261,906 $203,631

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ........ $148,317 $125,031

Actual return on plan assets.................................. 47,417 (24,980)

Employer contributions........................................ 5,294 52,965

Adjustment for CarMax separation (b)................... (606) 477

Benefits paid ........................................................ (6,091) (5,176)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year .................. $194,331 $148,317

Reconciliation of funded status:

Funded status ....................................................... $ (67,575) $ (55,314)

Unrecognized actuarial loss .................................. 77,397 73,124

Unrecognized prior service benefit ....................... 2,735 3,209

Unrecognized loss adjustment .............................. — 4,440

Net prepaid asset recognized (c) ............................. $ 12,557 $ 25,459

(a) Actuarial loss for fiscal 2004 results primarily from the change in the discount rate
from 6.60 percent to 6.00 percent.

(b) Adjustment reflects separation of CarMax from the Circuit City pension plan.

(c) At February 29, 2004, amount includes an asset for the defined benefit pension
plan of $23.7 million, which is included in other assets, and a liability for the benefit
restoration plan of $11.1 million, which is included in accrued expenses and other cur-
rent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. At February 28, 2003, amount
includes an asset for the defined benefit pension plan of $35.1 million, which is
included in other assets, and a liability for the benefit restoration plan of $9.7 million,
which is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheet.

The components of net pension expense for the plans were
as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Service cost ................................................. $ 15,873 $ 14,895 $ 14,994

Interest cost ................................................ 13,263 13,384 11,977

Expected return on plan assets .................... (14,518) (13,389) (12,527)

Amortization of prior service cost ............... 474 335 328

Amortization of transitional asset................ — — (30)

Recognized actuarial loss (gain) .................. 3,272 501 (1)

Net pension expense ................................... $ 18,364 $ 15,726 $ 14,741

40 CIRCUIT CITY STORES 2004

15



The weighted average assumptions used in computing the
benefit obligations for the plans were as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
2004 2003 2002

Weighted average discount rate........................... 6.00% 6.60% 7.25%

Rate of increase in compensation levels............... 5.00% 5.00% 6.00%

The weighted average assumptions used in computing net
pension expense for the plans were as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
2004 2003 2002

Weighted average discount rate........................... 6.60% 7.25% 7.50%

Rate of increase in compensation levels............... 5.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Expected rate of return on plan assets ................. 8.25% 9.00% 9.00%

Benefit obligations are determined using assumptions at the
end of each fiscal year and are not impacted by the expected
rate of return on plan assets. Net pension expense is deter-
mined using assumptions at the beginning of each fiscal year.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit
pension plan was $189.1 million at February 29, 2004, and
$147.5 million at February 28, 2003.

The plan’s overall investment objective is to provide a long-
term return that, along with company contributions, is
expected to meet future benefit payment requirements. The
company engages a third party to advise the company on both
asset allocations and individual fund managers.

The percentage composition of assets held by the pension
plan were as follows:

At February 29 or 28
2004 2003

Domestic equity ................................................................ 73% 52%

International equity ........................................................... 18 11

Cash equivalents................................................................ 6 34

Other ................................................................................ 3 3

Total .................................................................................. 100% 100%

Plan assets did not include any shares of the company’s com-
mon stock at February 29, 2004. Plan assets included 1.3 million
shares of the company’s common stock at February 28, 2003.

At February 29, 2004, the plan’s target asset allocation was
75 percent domestic equity, 20 percent international equity
and 5 percent other. The plan’s target allocation is determined
taking into consideration the amounts and timing of pro-
jected liabilities, the company’s funding policies and expected
returns on various asset classes. To develop the expected long-
term rate of return on assets, the company considered the his-
torical returns and the future expectations for returns for each
asset class, as well as the target asset allocations.

Company contributions to the defined benefit pension
plan were $5.0 million in fiscal 2004, $52.9 million in fiscal
2003 and $7.6 million in fiscal 2002. No contributions are
required during fiscal 2005 under applicable law for this pen-
sion plan. The company intends to make any contributions
necessary to meet ERISA minimum funding standards and
will make additional contributions as needed to ensure that
the fair value of plan assets at February 28, 2005, exceeds the
accumulated benefit obligation.

The company’s unfunded nonqualified benefit restoration
plan restores retirement benefits for senior executives who are
affected by Internal Revenue Code limitations on benefits pro-
vided under the company’s pension plan. The accumulated
benefit obligation under this plan was $11.5 million at
February 29, 2004, and $10.1 million at February 28, 2003.
Company contributions to the benefit restoration plan were
$294,000 in fiscal 2004, $73,000 in fiscal 2003 and $5,000 in
fiscal 2002. A contribution of $463,000, which is equal to the
expected benefit payments, is expected to be made to this plan
during fiscal 2005.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the company
adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations,” which requires entities to record the fair value 
of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period
incurred and recognize accretion expense in subsequent peri-
ods. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 did not have a material
impact on the company’s financial position, results of opera-
tions or cash flows.

Effective in the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the company
adopted Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21,
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliv-
erables,” which addresses when and how an arrangement
involving multiple deliverables should be divided into separate
units of accounting, as well as how consideration under the
arrangement should be measured and allocated to the separate
units of accounting in the arrangement. The adoption of
EITF No. 00-21 did not have a material impact on the com-
pany’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Effective September 1, 2003, the company adopted FASB
Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities,” which addresses how to identify variable interest
entities and provides guidance as to how a company may assess
its interests in a variable interest entity for purposes of deciding
whether consolidation of that entity is required. With the
adoption of FIN No. 46, the company recorded a building and
long-term debt of $12.6 million on the consolidated balance
sheet. In December 2003, the FASB amended FIN No. 46.
The company does not expect the adoption of the amended
Interpretation to have an impact on its financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the company
adopted SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures
about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits,” which
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requires additional disclosures about the assets, obligations, cash
flows and net periodic benefit cost of defined benefit pension
plans and other defined benefit postretirement plans. This
Statement does not change the measurement or recognition of
those plans required by SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting
for Pensions;” SFAS No. 88, “Employers’ Accounting for
Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans
and for Termination Benefits;” and SFAS No. 106, “Employers’
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.”
The company has included the disclosures required by SFAS
No. 132 (revised 2003) in Note 15 to the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the company
adopted EITF No. 03-10, “Application of Issue No. 02-16 by
Resellers to Sales Incentives Offered to Consumers by
Manufacturers,” which addresses whether consideration
received by a reseller from a vendor that represents reimburse-
ment by the vendor for honoring the vendor’s sales incentives
offered directly to consumers should be recorded as a reduction
of the cost of the reseller’s purchases from the vendor, and
therefore, characterized as a reduction of cost of sales under the
guidance in EITF No. 02-16. As the company’s policies already
were consistent with the provisions of EITF No. 03-10, the
adoption of this standard did not have an impact on the com-
pany’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Due to changes in the company’s management reporting struc-
ture that occurred during the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the
company identified its retail operation and its finance opera-
tion as reportable segments in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 131, “Segment Reporting.” These segments are
identified and managed by the company based on the com-
pany’s management reporting structure and on the nature of
the products and services offered by each segment. The retail
operation segment is primarily engaged in the business of sell-
ing brand-name consumer electronics, personal computers and
entertainment software. The finance operation issues and serv-
ices private-label credit cards, including a co-branded Visa
credit card. The finance operation is conducted through the
company’s wholly owned subsidiary First North American
National Bank, which is a limited-purpose credit card bank.
FNANB sells its credit card receivables to a consolidated spe-
cial purpose subsidiary, which, in turn, transfers these receiv-
ables to a securitization master trust that is an off-balance-sheet
qualifying special purpose entity. On January 20, 2004, the
company announced plans to sell its private-label finance
operation to Bank One Corporation. The sale is expected to
close in the second calendar quarter of 2004. See Note 4 and
Note 6 for additional discussion of finance income and the
finance operation.

The company’s finance operation segment is evaluated by
management on a pretax basis. The company includes substan-
tially all depreciation and amortization and interest expense
within the retail operation segment. The accounting policies 
of the segments are the same as those set forth in Note 2.

Revenue by reportable segment and the reconciliation to
the consolidated statements of operations were as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Retail operation............................................. $9,745.4 $ 9,953.5 $9,518.2

Finance operation.......................................... 120.9 107.3 118.0

Total revenue................................................. 9,866.3 10,060.8 9,636.2

Less: finance operation revenue not included
in net sales and operating revenues* ........ 120.9 107.3 118.0

Net sales and operating revenues ................... $9,745.4 $ 9,953.5 $9,518.2

*Finance operation revenue is included in finance income, which is reported separately
from net sales and operating revenues on the statements of operations.

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes by reportable segment and the reconciliation to the con-
solidated statements of operations were as follows:

Years Ended February 29 or 28
(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Retail operation*................................................ $(33.9) $(32.8) $ 66.4

Finance operation .............................................. 32.7 27.3 40.2

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations 
before income taxes...................................... $ (1.2) $ (5.5) $106.6

*All corporate expenses are included in the retail operation.

Total assets by reportable segment and the reconciliation to
the consolidated balance sheets were as follows:

At February 29 or 28
(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003

Retail operation .............................................................. $3,031.7 $3,022.4

Finance operation ........................................................... 601.3 423.1

Discontinued operations ................................................. — 395.8

Total assets ...................................................................... $3,633.0 $3,841.3

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On April 13, 2004, the company commenced a tender offer
to acquire all outstanding common shares of InterTAN, Inc.,
a leading consumer electronics retailer of both private-label
and internationally branded products. The tender offer will be
conditioned upon at least a majority of the fully diluted shares
being tendered. If successful, the tender offer will be followed
by a merger in which the holders of the remaining outstand-
ing shares of InterTAN common stock will receive $14 per
share in cash. The transaction is contingent upon customary
closing conditions, including regulatory and other standard
approvals. The company expects the cost of this acquisition,
including estimated transaction costs, will be approximately
$300 million.

Upon completion of the tender offer, which is expected in
the second calendar quarter of 2004, InterTAN will become a
subsidiary of the company.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

(Amounts in thousands First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Year
except per share data) 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Net sales and operating revenues ............. $1,933,320 $2,118,243 $2,155,700 $2,221,204 $2,407,424 $2,421,687 $3,249,001 $3,192,396 $9,745,445 $9,953,530

Gross profit ............................................. $ 448,310 $ 513,350 $ 487,375 $ 525,888 $ 534,824 $ 548,114 $ 756,816 $ 762,973 $2,227,325 $2,350,325

Net (loss) earnings from:

Continuing operations ......................... $ (28,089) $ (13,244) $ (39,311) $ (25,500) $ (28,055) $ (33,011) 94,668 $ 66,446 $ (787) $ (5,309)

Discontinued operations attributed to:

Circuit City common stock .............. (18,607) 25,103 (90,314) 28,864 25,546 6,809 (5,107) 4,488 (88,482) 65,264

CarMax Group common stock ......... — 10,116 — 11,038 — 1,154 — — — 22,308

Net (loss) earnings................................... $ (46,696) $ 21,975 $ (129,625) $ 14,402 $ (2,509) $ (25,048) $ 89,561 $ 70,934 $ (89,269) $ 82,263

Net (loss) earnings per share:

Basic:

Continuing operations ......................... $       (0.14) $       (0.06) $       (0.19) $       (0.12) $       (0.14) $       (0.16) $ 0.46 $ 0.32 $ — $       (0.03)

Discontinued operations attributed to:

Circuit City common stock .............. (0.09) 0.12 (0.44) 0.14 0.12 0.03 (0.02) 0.02 (0.43) 0.31

$       (0.23) $ 0.06 $       (0.63) $ 0.02 $       (0.01) $       (0.13) $ 0.44 $ 0.34 $       (0.43) $ 0.29

CarMax Group common stock ......... $ — $ 0.27 $ — $ 0.30 $ — $0.03 $ — $ — $ — $ 0.60

Diluted:

Continuing operations ......................... $       (0.14) $       (0.06) $       (0.19) $       (0.12) $       (0.14) $       (0.16) $ 0.46 $ 0.32 $ — $       (0.03)

Discontinued operations attributed to:

Circuit City common stock .............. (0.09) 0.12 (0.44) 0.14 $ 0.12 0.03 (0.02) 0.02 (0.43) 0.31

$       (0.23) $ 0.06 $       (0.63) $ 0.02 $       (0.01) $       (0.13) $ 0.43 $ 0.34 $       (0.43) $ 0.29

CarMax Group common stock ......... $ — $ 0.26 $ — $ 0.29 $ — $ 0.03 $ — $ — $ — $ 0.58

Net earnings from continuing operations for the fiscal 2004 fourth quarter include the following items: after-tax costs of $24.4 million related to lease terminations, asset write-offs
and severance for 19 stores closed during February; after-tax costs of $3.9 million related to the planned sale of the private-label finance operation; and an after-tax benefit of 
$3.7 million resulting from a reduction in liabilities related to the company’s customer gift card program.

Year-to-date earnings per share are calculated by dividing year-to-date earnings by the weighted average shares outstanding for the full year. Therefore, year-to-date earnings per share
do not equal the sum of the quarterly earnings per share.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Circuit City Stores, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Circuit City Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries as of February 29, 2004
and February 28, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the
fiscal years in the three-year period ended February 29, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
tion of Circuit City Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries as of February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, and the results of their opera-
tions and their cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended February 29, 2004, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for fiscal years 2003 and 2002 were previously prepared using Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” to record stock-based compensation. As more
fully described in Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to record stock-based compensation in
fiscal 2004. Consequently, the Company’s consolidated financial statements for fiscal years 2003 and 2002 have been restated in
accordance with the retroactive restatement method under SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure,” an amendment of SFAS No. 123.

RICHMOND, VIRGINIA

MARCH 30,  2004

19



44 CIRCUIT CITY STORES 2004

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

W. ALAN MCCOLLOUGH(1)

Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer

JAMES F. HARDYMON(1,3,4)

Lead Director
Retired, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer,
Textron, Inc., 
a global multi-industry company; 
Providence, Rhode Island

RONALD M. BRILL(1,2,4)

Private investor;
Retired, Executive Vice President and
Chief Administrative Officer,
The Home Depot, Inc., 
a home improvement retailer; 
Atlanta, Georgia

CAROLYN H. BYRD(2,5)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
GlobalTech Financial, LLC, 
a financial services company; 
Atlanta, Georgia

RICHARD N. COOPER(2,5)

Professor of Economics,
Harvard University; 
Cambridge, Massachusetts

BARBARA S. FEIGIN(2,3)

Consultant;
Retired, Executive Vice President,
Worldwide Director of Strategic Services,
Grey Global, Inc.; 
New York, New York

E.V. GOINGS(3,4)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Tupperware Corporation, 
a direct seller; 
Orlando, Florida

ALAN KANE(3,4)

Professor,
Columbia University 
Graduate School of Business; 
New York, New York

ALLEN B. KING(2,3)

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Universal Corporation,
a diversified company with operations 
in tobacco, lumber distribution and 
agri-products; 
Richmond, Virginia

MIKAEL SALOVAARA(1,2,3)

Private investor;
Retired, Partner,
Greycliff Partners, 
a merchant banking firm; 
Morristown, New Jersey

CAROLYN Y. WOO(4,5)

Dean of the Mendoza College of Business,
University of Notre Dame; 
Notre Dame, Indiana

(1) Executive Committee member
(2) Audit Committee member
(3) Compensation and Personnel Committee member
(4) Nominating and Governance Committee member
(5) Pension Committee member

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

W. ALAN MCCOLLOUGH
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer

JOHN W. FROMAN
Executive Vice President
Chief Operating Officer

RONALD E. BAIME
Senior Vice President
General Merchandise Manager

DENNIS J. BOWMAN
Senior Vice President
Strategic Sourcing and Inventory
Planning/Replinishment

W. STEPHEN CANNON
Senior Vice President
General Counsel and Secretary

GEORGE D. CLARK JR.
Senior Vice President
Eastern Division President

WILLIAM C. DENNEY
Senior Vice President
General Merchandise Manager

FIONA P. DIAS
Senior Vice President
President Circuit City Direct

PHILIP J. DUNN
Senior Vice President
Treasurer and Controller

MICHAEL E. FOSS
Senior Vice President
Chief Financial Officer

GARY M. MIERENFELD
Senior Vice President
Store Development, Procurement, 
Distribution and Service

DOUGLAS T. MOORE
Senior Vice President
Western Division President

ERNEST V. SPERANZA
Senior Vice President
Chief Marketing Officer

JEFFREY S. WELLS
Senior Vice President
Human Resources and Training

MICHAEL L. JONES
Vice President
Management Information Systems
Chief Information Officer



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

CORPORATE OFFICES
Circuit City Stores, Inc.
9950 Mayland Drive
Richmond, VA 23233-1464

ANNUAL MEETING
June 15, 2004, 10:00 a.m.
The Jepson Alumni Center
The University of Richmond
Richmond, Virginia

STOCK INFORMATION
Listed on the New York Stock Exchange
Circuit City NYSE symbol: CC
There were approximately 7,900 shareholders
of record at February 29, 2004.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
KPMG LLP 
Richmond, Virginia

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A.
South St. Paul, Minnesota
(800) 468-9716
www.wellsfargo.com/com/shareowner_services

RIGHTS AGENT
Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A.
South St. Paul, Minnesota

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES
Office of Investor Relations
(804) 527-4038 or (804) 527-4033

SECURITIES ANALYST INQUIRIES
Bill Cimino
Director of Corporate Communications
(804) 418-8163

FORM 10-K
The annual report on Form 10-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission
provides additional information and will be
available in June. A copy of this report may
be obtained without charge upon request to:
Office of the Corporate Secretary
Circuit City Stores, Inc.
9950 Mayland Drive
Richmond, Virginia 23233-1464
(804) 527-4022

WEB SITE
www.circuitcity.com

INVESTOR INFORMATION WEB SITE
http://investor.circuitcity.com

ALABAMA
Anniston
Birmingham (2)
Huntsville
Montgomery
Tuscaloosa

ARIZONA
Phoenix (9)
Tucson (2)

ARKANSAS
Ft. Smith
Little Rock (2)

CALIFORNIA
Bakersfield
Chico/Redding (2)
Fresno (3)
Los Angeles (39)
Palm Springs
Sacramento (6)
Salinas (3)
San Diego (8)
San Francisco (17)
Santa Barbara (2)

COLORADO
Colorado Springs (3)
Denver (8)
Grand Junction

CONNECTICUT
Hartford (4)

FLORIDA
Fort Myers (3)
Gainesville (2)
Jacksonville (4)
Miami (9)

Orlando (7)
Panama City
Pensacola (3)
Tallahassee
Tampa (10)
West Palm Beach (5)

GEORGIA
Albany
Atlanta (15)
Augusta
Columbus
Macon
Savannah

HAWAII
Honolulu

IDAHO
Boise
Idaho Falls

ILLINOIS
Champaign/

Springfield (3)
Chicago (29)
Peoria/Bloomington (2)
Rockford

INDIANA
Evansville
Fort Wayne
Indianapolis (5)
Lafayette
South Bend
Terre Haute

KANSAS
Kansas City (4)
Wichita (2)

KENTUCKY
Lexington (2)
Louisville (4)
Paducah

LOUISIANA
Baton Rouge
Lafayette
Lake Charles
New Orleans (4)
Texarkana/Shreveport

MAINE
Bangor
Portland

MARYLAND
Baltimore (7)
Salisbury

MASSACHUSETTS
Boston (15)
Springfield (2)

MICHIGAN
Detroit (12)
Flint (2)
Grand Rapids (6)
Lansing (3)
Traverse City

MINNESOTA
Minneapolis (8)

MISSISSIPPI
Biloxi
Jackson
Tupelo

MISSOURI
Columbia
St. Louis (8)
Springfield

NEBRASKA
Lincoln

NEVADA
Las Vegas (4)
Reno

NEW MEXICO
Albuquerque

NEW YORK
Albany
Binghamton
Buffalo (3)
New York (37)
Rochester (3)
Syracuse

NORTH CAROLINA
Charlotte (6)
Greensboro (3)
Greenville/New Bern (2)
Raleigh (5)
Wilmington

OHIO
Cincinnati (6)
Cleveland (8)
Columbus (4)
Dayton (2)
Toledo (2)
Youngstown (2)

OKLAHOMA
Oklahoma City (2)
Tulsa (2)

OREGON
Eugene
Medford
Portland (5)

PENNSYLVANIA
Erie
Harrisburg (4)
Johnstown (3)
Philadelphia (16)
Pittsburgh (5)
Scranton/Wilkes-Barre (3)

RHODE ISLAND
Providence (5)

SOUTH CAROLINA
Charleston
Columbia (2)
Florence (2)
Greenville (4)

TENNESSEE
Chattanooga
Jackson
Knoxville (2)
Memphis (2)
Nashville (5)
Tri-Cities (2)

TEXAS
Abilene
Amarillo
Austin (3)
Beaumont
Corpus Christi
Dallas/Fort Worth (11)
El Paso (2)
Houston (11)
Lubbock
McAllen/Brownsville (2)
Midland/Odessa
San Antonio (3)

Tyler/Longview (3)
Waco (4)
Wichita Falls

UTAH
Salt Lake City (5)

VERMONT
Burlington

VIRGINIA
Charlottesville
Harrisonburg
Norfolk (6)
Richmond (5)
Roanoke (2)
Winchester

WASHINGTON
Seattle (8)
Spokane (2)
Yakima

WEST VIRGINIA
Charleston/

Huntington (2)
Clarksburg (2)
Wheeling (2)

WISCONSIN
Appleton/

Green Bay (2)
Madison (2)
Milwaukee (4)

WYOMING
Cheyenne

WASHINGTON D.C.
Maryland (9)
N. Virginia (8)

CIRCUIT CITY MARKETS (as of 2/29/04)
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